
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 ه.ــوالمصادقة علي 31/12/2017المالية المنتهية في  السنةسماع تقرير مجلس الإدارة عن   .1
 

 

 والمصادقة عليه 31/12/2017سماع تقرير الحوكمة وتقرير لجنة التدقيق عن السنة المنتهية في    .2
 
 

 والموافقة عـليـه. 31/12/2017الحسابـات عــن السنـة الماليـة المنتهيـة فــي  مراقبسمـاع تقرير  .3
 

 

 ا.ــوالمصادقة عليه 2017/ 31/12ماليـة المنتهيـة فــي المالية عـن السنـة ال البياناتمناقشة  .4
 

التي رصــدتهــا الجهات الرقابيـــة خــلال السنـــة المالية تلاوة بيان الجزاءات )مالية وغير مالية(  .5

 )إن وجدت(. 31/12/2017المنتهيـــة في 

 

 دينار كويتي . 92,984بمبلغ  الإجباري للإحتياطيالموافقـة علـى الإستقطـاع  .6

 

 دينار كويتي .  92,984بملبغ  الـعـام للإحتياطيالإستقطاع  الموافقة على .7

 

من عدد أسهمها وفقاً  % 10الإدارة بشراء أو بيع أسهم الشركة بما لا يتجاوزعن تفويض مجلس  .8

 ولائحته التنفيذية وتعديلاتهما . 2010لسنة  7لمواد القانون رقم 

 

 .2021انتخاب أعضاء مجلس الإدارة للسنوات الثلاثة القادمة حتى  .9
 

 

 

عن السنة المالية المنتهية في  %5مناقشة توصية مجلس الإدارة بتوزيع أرباح نقدية بواقع  .10

يوم عمل من  15وذلك بعد خصم أسهم الخزينه على أن يكون تاريخ الإستحقاق بعد  31/12/2017

 .أيام عمل من تاريخ الإستحقاق  10تاريخ موافقه الجمعية العامة وأن يكون تاريخ التوزيع بعد 

 

 جامعة الكويت. -د.ك كلية العلوم الإجتماعية  1000لموافقة على التبـرع بمبلـغ ا .11

 

 جــدول أعمــال الجمعيـة العامـة العاديـة 

31/12/2017عن السنــة الماليــة المنتهيـة فــي   



 

 

 

 

 
 

 

الموافقة على تفـويـض مجلـس الإدارة بإصـدار سنــدات أو صكـوك بالدينـار الكويتـي أو بأي عملـة  .12

 ً  أو ما يعادله بالعملات الأجنبية أخـرى يراها مناسبة وبما لا يتجاوز الحد الأقصى المصرح به قانونيا

مع تفويض مجلس الإدارة في تحديد نوع تلك السندات ومدتها وقيمتها الأسمية وسعر الفائدة وموعد 

 الوفاء بها وسائر شروطها وأحكامها، وذلك بعد أخذ موافقة الجهات الرقابية المختصة. 

 
 

 31/12/2017 في السنة المالية المنتهيةإعتماد المعاملات التي تمت مع الأطراف ذات الصلة عن  .13

والموافقة على تفويض مجلس الإدارة بالدخول في معاملات ذات صلة عن السنة المالية المنتهية في 

نة ن السلإعتماد البيانات المالية موما بعدها لحين إنعقاد الجمعية العمومية السنوية  31/12/2018

  31/12/2018المنتهية في 

 

 

م ــق بتصرفاتهــا يتعلــل مـن كــم عــراء ذمتهــس الإدارة وإبــاء مجلــادة أعضــالس رفـلاء طــإخ .14

 .31/12/2017ي ــة فــة المنتهيــة الماليــن السنــعالمالية والإدارية ة ــالقانوني
 

 
 

الحسابات من ضمن القائمة المعتمدة بأسماء مراقبي الحسابات لدى  مراقبتعييـن أو إعـادة تعييـن  .15

هيئة أسواق المال مع مراعــاة مــدة التغييــر الإلزامـي لمراقبــي الحســابات للسنــة الماليـــة المنتهية 

 . وتفويض مجلس الإدارة بتحديد أتعابهم 2017ديسمبر  31في 

 

 

 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 



 رئيس مجلس الإدارة  السيد / كلمة

 2017ديسمبر  31في  المنتهيةعن السنة المالية 

 

 السادة المساهمين الكرامحضرات 

 م عليكم ورحمة الله وبركاته السلا

 

بكم  يسرني أن أرحبعن نفسي ونيابة عن زملائي أعضاء مجلس الإدارة والإدارة التنفيذية للشركة  بالأصالة

الذي ها ولعرض التقرير السنوي ركة التخصيص القابضة كما يطيب لي لشي اجتماع الجمعية العامة العادية ف

عن السنة المالية المنتهية في  ومركزها المالينتائج أعمالها لنشاطاتها و يتضمن عرضا موجزا

31/12/2017.  

 

 (2,449,848) بقيمة خسائر كويتي مقابليون دينار مل 3,150,506 قدرها ا  أرباح 2017خلال  الشركةحققت 

 97,340,927 مبلغ 2017في نهاية وقد بلغت حقوق المساهمين  ،2016ون دينار كويتي حتى نهاية عام ملي

 . 2016مليون دينار كويتي حتى نهاية عام  93,437,476مليون دينار كويتي مقابل 

 

في  ثماراتهااستعلى تركيزهـا  فقد واصـلت الشركة المباشرة تاارللاستثم الاستراتيجية الشركةلخطة  فقا  وو

 متابعةلك كذو المتجـددة(والطاقـة  ،، المياهالطاقة التحتية، )البنيةالتالية تعمل في القطاعـات  يالشركات الت

 هذه لـىعكيـز رالت مـعوشمال أفريقيا دول الشرق الأوسط  بمشاريـع قائمـة وعاملـة فـي يةالاستثمارالفـرص 

 الإقليمية. للمخاطر وذلك تجنبا   الكويت الفرص في دولة

دينار  مليون  106.3 بقيمة 2017ديسمبر  31قدر اجمالي استثمارات شركة التخصيص القابضة في و قد 

 .مليون دينار كويتي  62.6 تقريبا  2017ديسمبر  31كويتي . و قد بلغت قيمة الاستثمارات المباشرة في 

 

شرعت في وبتلبية جميع التزاماتها المعلقة تقريبا،  2017ووفقا لاستراتيجيتها، قامت الشركة خلال عام 

 الغازالنفط وخدمات حقول قامت بالتخارج من استثمارها في شركة  حيث انتقائية،سياسة خروج / تصفية 

 2,386,244بمبلغ  دينار كويتي، مما نتج عنه ربح 18,018,301 مقابلتابعة هي شركة و جوفسكو()

 .  دينار كويتي

 



في  بي أند بي في شركة  الاستثمار، تتمثل ب 2017قد شرعت الشركة باستثمارات إضافية خلال سنة  و

لغ و تمتلك شركة التخصيص حصة تب الكويت دولة  تطوير فندق أربع نجوم في على الكويت والتي تعمل 

 SELT MARINE“شركة   ذلك فقد استثمرت شركة التخصيص في  إلى بالإضافة .منها % 40

GROUP "يص حصة التخصحيث تبلغ  ،تونسمتخصصة في تصنيع الإضافات الغذائية في  وهي شركة

 الشركة.من تلك  12.5%

اكة عمل الشر إطارخلال  وذلك منكما واصلت الشركة جهودها للمشاركة في مشاريع التنمية في دولة الكويت 

. والخاصالشراكة بين القطاعين العام  وهيئة مشروعات( PPP/BOTوالخاص )القطاعين العام  ما بين

الكويت، ي ف منتقاةللدخول في مشاريع  ومحليين متخصصينقامت بتشكيل تحالفات مع شركاء دوليين  حيث

الخاص  نالشراكة بين القطاعييلي المشاريع التي ركزت عليها شركة التخصيص القابضة ضمن خطة  وفيما

 :PPPوالعام 

 

 )مشروع المدارس وحوض السباحة( البرنامج الحكومي والخطة الإنمائية لوزارة التربيةمشروع  -

مع مجموعة الصناعات  القابضة بالتحالفشركة التخصيص تم اختيار تحالفنا  المكون من حيث 

من الولايات   Morgantiاليونان )قائد المشروع (و شركة   CCCو شركة  الوطنية القابضة 

 على انه التحالفالمتحدة الأمريكية من قبل هيئة مشروعات الشراكة بين القطاعين العام و الخاص 

 المشروع قيد البت من قبل اللجنة العليا.لا يزال و  2017في شهر يناير  المفضل

 شركة حيث قامت مدينة جنوب الجهراء )من خلال مجموعة الصناعات( –مشروع المدن العمالية  -

ي مع شركة اجيليت بالتحالف القابضةمجموعة الصناعات الوطنية التخصيص بالمشاركة من خلال 

د تم ادراج تحالفنا من ضمن القائمة وق 2017تقديم مستندات التأهيل في اغسطس ( ب)قائد المشروع

من المتوقع اصدار مستندات العطاء في الربع و  للمشروع )تقديم العطاءات(المؤهلة للمرحلة الثانية 

 .2018الثاني من 

حيث قامت  (J1, J2, J3, S1, S2)مدينة جابر الاحمد  –المؤسسة العامة للرعاية السكنية  -

ائد و شركة مباني )قالقابضة مجموعة الصناعات الوطنية شركة التخصيص القابضة بالتحالف مع  

في سبتمبر  (J1, J2, J3, S1,S2)استثمارية لخمس فرص تقديم مستندات التأهيل المشروع( ب

 .2018من المتوقع اصدار مستندات العطاء في الربع الثاني من ، 2017

http://www.ptb.gov.kw/ar/%d8%a7%d9%84%d8%a8%d8%b1%d9%86%d8%a7%d9%85%d8%ac-%d8%a7%d9%84%d8%ad%d9%83%d9%88%d9%85%d9%8a-%d9%88%d8%a7%d9%84%d8%ae%d8%b7%d8%a9-%d8%a7%d9%84%d8%a5%d9%86%d9%85%d8%a7%d8%a6%d9%8a%d8%a9-%d9%84%d9%88%d8%b2%d8%a7%d8%b1%d8%a9-%d8%a7%d9%84%d8%aa%d8%b1%d8%a8%d9%8a%d8%a91
http://www.ptb.gov.kw/ar/%d8%a7%d9%84%d8%a8%d8%b1%d9%86%d8%a7%d9%85%d8%ac-%d8%a7%d9%84%d8%ad%d9%83%d9%88%d9%85%d9%8a-%d9%88%d8%a7%d9%84%d8%ae%d8%b7%d8%a9-%d8%a7%d9%84%d8%a5%d9%86%d9%85%d8%a7%d8%a6%d9%8a%d8%a9-%d9%84%d9%88%d8%b2%d8%a7%d8%b1%d8%a9-%d8%a7%d9%84%d8%aa%d8%b1%d8%a8%d9%8a%d8%a91


للمشاركة  نآخريدوليين متخصصين مع شركاء  مماثلة تشكيل تحالفات في طورالشركة ، فإن هذا الصدد وفي  

 الخيران محطة عمشرو مثل، في الكويت BOT مشاريع والخاص وكذلكمشاريع الشراكة بين قطاعي العام في 

لة الزور المرح مشروعإلى  بالإضافة والقطارات، مشروع المتروو ،وانتاج المياهلتوليد الطاقة الكهربائية 

 منه.المرحلة الثانية  تم إلغاءما إعادة طرحه من جديد بعد والثالثة المزمعالثانية 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

هذا و قد قمنا بتعزيز نظام الحوكمة بالشركة ، حيث حرصنا على تعزيز مفهوم الرقابة الداخلية و الافصاح و 

 2017غيرها من تطبيقات حوكمة الشركات ،هذا و قد وضعنا بين أيديكم تقرير حوكمة الشركات لعام 

 خلال العام الماضي.  للإطلاع عليه والتعرف على معايير الحوكمة التي تم اتباعها من قبل الشركة

رارنا حرصنا وإصونحن إذ نتطلع للمستقبل ، فإننا ندرك تماماُ حجم الأعباء الملقاة على عاتقنا مؤكدين لكم 

كل الجهود التي من شأنها تعزيز مركز الشركة في السوق المحلي والعالمي وذلك  على مواصلة مسيرتنا لبذل

   .بتنوع الأدوات الاستثمارية

لا تزال شركتكم تملك رؤية استراتيجية طموحة  كخطة مستدامة لخلق القيمة لعملائنا ومساهمينا، وأود أن و 

و موظفي الشركة  انتهز هذه الفرصة لأعبرّ عن صادق تقديري  لكل من مجلس الإدارة والإدارة التنفيذية 

 .داء و تحقيق النتائج المرجوة الوصول لأعلى مستويات الا لعملهم الدؤوب و جهودهم المستمرة في سبيل 

 وجميع أصحاب وختاما، أتقدم ببالغ الشكر  لجميع مساهمينا  وشركاء الأعمال والجهات الحكومية والعملاء 

 ، سائلين المولى عز وجل أن يوفقنا وأن يكلل مساعينا بالنجاح .المصالح لالتزامهم برؤيتنا ودعمهم  لها. 

 

 

 والله ولي التوفيق
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  2017  2016 

 Notes KD  KD 

Revenues     

Revenue from sales and services  7,265,431  5,751,052 

Change in fair value of investment properties 13 117,967  (486,215) 

Gain/(loss) on sale of investment properties  9,025  (31,061) 

Share of results of associates 14 1,885,391  1,580,057 

Interest income 8 122,631  115,941 

Gain/(loss) on sale of available for sale investments   152,144  (1,766,835) 

Change in fair value of investments at fair value through profit or loss   703,552  237,868 

Gain on sale of investments at fair value through profit or loss  -  3,777 

Dividend income  1,283,744  1,294,750 

Loss on sale of associates  (70,678)  - 

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  156,533  (639,260) 

Other income   485,526  185,690 

Total revenues  12,111,266  6,245,764 

     

Expenses and other charges     

Cost of sales and services   (6,226,854)  (4,468,513) 

General and administrative expenses 9 (3,119,418)  (2,805,042) 

Portfolio management fees  (103,633)  (52,974) 

Finance costs  (2,334,423)  (1,766,444) 

Impairment of available for sale investments 15 -  (1,448,393) 

Total expenses  (11,784,328)  (10,541,366) 

Profit/(loss) for the year before taxation   326,938  (4,295,602) 

Contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences  (20,159)  - 

National Labour Support Tax   (73,206)  - 

Zakat   (19,883)  - 

Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations   213,690  (4,295,602) 

Profit from discontinued operations 7 3,065,667  2,302,835 

Net profit/(loss) for the year  3,279,357  (1,992,767) 

     

Attributable to:     

Shareholders of the Parent Company  3,150,506  (2,449,848) 

Non-controlling interests  128,851  457,081 

  3,279,357  (1,992,767) 

     

Basic and diluted earnings/(losses) from continued and 

discontinued operations attributable to the Shareholder of Parent 

Company (fils) 10 5.16  (3.66)  

From continuing operations attributable to the Shareholder of 

Parent Company (fils) 10 0.14  (7.11)  

From discontinued operations attributable to the Shareholder of 

Parent Company (fils) 10 5.02  3.45  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The notes set out on pages 11 to 59 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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2017 

 

2016 

 Note KD  KD 

     

Net profit/(loss) for the year  3,279,357  (1,992,767) 

Other comprehensive income/(loss)     

Items that may be reclassified to consolidated statement of income 

in subsequent periods: 

    

Available for sale investments :     

- Change in fair value   1,233,140  56,034 

- Transferred to consolidated statement of income on sale  (152,144)  1,766,835 

- Transferred to consolidated statement of income on impairment   -  1,448,393 

Reversal of reserve upon partial disposal of associate  289  - 

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations  (82,356)  44,321 

Share of other comprehensive (loss)/income of associates  14 (121,054)  145,058 

Other comprehensive income for the year  877,875  3,460,641 

Total comprehensive income for the year  4,157,232  1,467,874 

Attributable to:     

Shareholders of the Parent Company  4,085,353  1,312,910 

Non-controlling interests  71,879  154,964 

  4,157,232  1,467,874 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The notes set out on pages 11 to 59 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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  Equity attributable to the Shareholders of the Parent Company  

 
Share 

 capital 

Share 

premium 

Statutory 

reserve 

General 

reserve 

Treasury 

shares 

Treasury 

shares 

reserve 

Fair value 

reserve 

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve 

Other 

reserves 

Retained 

earnings/ 

(accumulated 

losses) Sub-total 

Non- 

controlling 

interests 

Total 

 equity 

 KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD 

              

At 1 January 2017 61,000,000 24,761,544 1,497,548 5,526,986 - - 2,849,238 710,340 (574,267) (2,333,913) 93,437,476 3,621,164 97,058,640 

Net profit for the year - - - - - - - - - 3,150,506 3,150,506 128,851 3,279,357 

Other comprehensive income/(loss):              

Available for sale investments :              

- Change in fair value  - - - - - - 1,290,113 - - - 1,290,113 (56,973) 1,233,140 

- Transferred to consolidated statement 

of income on sale  - - - - - - (152,144) - - - (152,144) - (152,144) 

Reversal of reserve upon partial 
disposal of associate - - - - - - 341 (52) - - 289 - 289 

Exchange differences arising on 

translation of foreign operations - - - - - - - (82,356) - - (82,356) - (82,356) 

Share of other comprehensive income 

of associates (Note 14) - - - - - - 11,358 (132,413) - - (121,055) 1 (121,054) 

Other comprehensive income /(loss) for 

the year - - - - - - 1,149,668 (214,821) - - 934,847 (56,972) 877,875 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for 

the year - - - - - - 1,149,668 (214,821) - 3,150,506 4,085,353 71,879 4,157,232 

              

Share of other reserves of associate 
(Note 14) - - - - - - - - (269,640) - (269,640) (88) (269,728) 

Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 7) - - - - - - - - (402,854) - (402,854) (3,126,051) (3,528,905) 

Reclassifying to associate (Note 14 b) - - - - - - - - 489,694 - 489,694 1,312,059 1,801,753 

Reversal of reserve upon disposal of 

associate - - - - - - - - 898 - 898 - 898 

Dividends distribution - - - - - - - - - - - (50,000) (50,000) 

Arising on incorporation of subsidiary 

(Note 7) - - - - - - - - - - - 21,000 21,000 

Transferred to reserves - - 92,984 92,984 - - - - - (185,968) - - - 

At 31 December 2017 61,000,000 24,761,544 1,590,532 5,619,970 - - 3,998,906 495,519 (756,169) 630,625 97,340,927 1,849,963 99,190,890 
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  Equity attributable to the Shareholders of the Parent Company  

 
Share 

 capital 

Share 

premium 

Statutory 

reserve 

General 

reserve 

Treasury 

shares 

Treasury 

shares 

reserve 

Fair value 

reserve 

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve 

Other 

reserves 

Retained 

earnings/ 

(accumulated 

losses) Sub-total 

Non- 

controlling 

interests 

Total 

 equity 

 KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD 

              

At 1 January 2016 73,828,000 24,761,544 1,497,548 1,072,302 (2,865,881) 1,815,085 (820,748) 617,568 (77,567) 149,668 99,977,519 2,015,905 101,993,424 

              

Net (loss) / profit for the year - -  - - - - - - - (2,449,848) (2,449,848) 457,081 (1,992,767) 

Other comprehensive 

income/(loss):              

Available for sale investments :              

- Change in fair value  - - - - - - 358,151 - - - 358,151 (302,117) 56,034 

- Transferred to consolidated  

statement of income on sale  - - - - - - 1,766,835 - - - 1,766,835 - 1,766,835 

- Impairment losses  - - - - - - 1,448,393 - - - 1,448,393 - 1,448,393 

Exchange differences arising 

on translation of foreign 

operations - - - - - - - 44,321 - - 44,321 - 44,321 

Share of other comprehensive 

income of associates - - - - - - 96,607 48,451 - - 145,058 - 145,058 

Other comprehensive income 

/(loss) for the year - - - - - - 3,669,986 92,772 - - 3,762,758 (302,117) 3,460,641 

Total comprehensive 

income/(loss) for the year - - - - - - 3,669,986 92,772 - (2,449,848) 1,312,910 154,964 1,467,874 

Capital reduction (12,828,000) - - 4,454,684 2,865,881 (1,815,085) - - - - (7,322,520) - (7,322,520) 

Share of other reserves of 

associates - - - - - - - - (443,593) - (443,593) (150) (443,743) 

Net ownership changes in  

subsidiaries - - - - - - - - (86,840) - (86,840) 86,840 - 

Purchase of subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - 1,377,724 1,377,724 

Other movements - - - - - - - - 33,733 (33,733) - (14,119) (14,119) 

At 31 December 2016 61,000,000 24,761,544 1,497,548 5,526,986 - - 2,849,238 710,340 (574,267) (2,333,913) 93,437,476 3,621,164 97,058,640 

 
The notes set out on pages 11 to 59 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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  2017  2016 

 Notes KD  KD 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES     

Net profit/(loss) for the year  3,279,357  (1,992,767) 

Adjustments for:     

Depreciation  11 853,159  1,736,164 

Amortization  12 122,539  - 

Gain on sale of investment in subsidiaries 7 (2,809,098)  - 

Change in fair value of investment properties 13 (117,967)  486,215 

(Gain)/loss on sale of investment properties  (9,025)  31,061 

Share of results of associates 14 (1,885,391)  (1,580,057) 

Loss on partial sale of investment in associates  70,678  - 

(Gain)/loss on sale of available of sale of investments   (152,144)  1,766,835 

Impairment of available for sale investments  -  1,448,393 

Dividend income  (1,283,744)  (1,294,750) 

Interest income 8 (122,631)  (115,941) 

Gain on sale of investments at fair value through profit or loss  -  (3,777) 

Change in fair value of investments at fair value through profit or loss  (705,721)  (238,490) 

Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  (156,533)  630,296 

Finance costs  2,334,423  2,074,269 

Provision for employees’ end of service benefits  301,778  338,024 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:  (280,320)  3,285,475 

     

Inventories  59,409  (1,369,000) 

Accounts receivable and other debit balances  (2,529,175)  (3,924,544) 

Investments at fair value through profit or loss  -  26,319 

Accounts payable and other credit balances  (4,052,651)  10,579,237 

Cash flows used in operating activities  (6,802,737)  8,597,487 

Taxation paid  -  (56,653) 

Employees’ end of service benefits paid  (17,890)  (47,054) 

Net cash flows used in operating activities  (6,820,627)  8,493,780 

     

INVESTING ACTIVITIES     

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 11 (210,622)  (14,565,222) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   -  7,210 

Purchase of intangible assets 12 (574,479)  - 

Proceeds from sale of investment property  41,820  150,172 

Additions to investment in associates 14 (10,515)  (10,809) 

Proceeds from disposal of associates  523,363  92,893 

Dividend income received from associates 14 595,922  1,214,387 

Dividend income received   1,283,745    1,294,750 

Proceeds from sale of available for sale investments   1,967,042  10,509,392 

Purchase of available for sale investments    (989,627)  (631,527) 

Proceeds from redemption of held to maturity investment  3,529  3,529 

Net movement in fixed deposits    (3,889)  546,123 

Interest income received  121,415  134,377 

Net cash from acquisition / disposal of investment in subsidiary  8,456,534  1,557,918 

Net cash flows generated from investing activities  11,204,238  303,193 

     

FINANCING ACTIVITIES     

Proceeds from term loans  14,094,893  30,153,123 

Repayment of term loans  (15,063,309)  (33,379,245) 

Finance costs paid  (2,333,965)  (2,088,642) 

Share capital repayments   (368,848)  (6,098,320) 

Movement in non-controlling interests  (29,000)  (14,119) 

Net cash flows used in financing activities  (3,700,229)  (11,427,203) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  683,382  (2,630,230) 

Foreign currency translation adjustments  (70,821)  (394,186) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  6,310,909  9,335,325 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 19 6,923,470  6,310,909 

     

Non-cash transactions     

Investment in associates   (1,801,754)  1,619,332 

Investment in subsidiary  1,801,754  (1,619,332) 

 
The notes set out on pages 11 to 59 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1. Incorporation and activities 

 

Privatization Holding Company - KPSC (the “Parent Company”) is a Kuwaiti shareholding 

company registered on 10 October 1994 and is listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange.  

 

The Parent Company is licensed to: 

 Invest in Kuwaiti and foreign shareholding companies and limited liability companies and to 

participate in the establishment and management of such entities, 

 Lend to such entities and act as their guarantor, 

 Utilization of excess funds in investment in financial portfolios or real estate portfolios through 

specialised parties inside or outside Kuwait, 

 Invest in real estate, hold patents and copy rights, and advance loans to associates, 

 Represent foreign consulting firms in local market. 

 

The Group comprises the Parent Company and its subsidiaries. Details of subsidiaries are set out in  

Note 7. 

 

Its registered office is located at Sharq, Ahmad Al-Jaber Street, Dar Al-Awadi Tower, 23 Floor, 

P.O. Box 4323, Safat 13104, Kuwait 

 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 were 

authorised for issue by the Parent Company’s Board of Directors on 28 March 2018 and are subject 

to the approval of the General Assembly of the Shareholders. 

 

2. Statement of compliance  

 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(“IASB”), and Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 

Committee (“IFRIC”) of the IASB. Summary of significant accounting policies is as follows: 

 

3. Basis of preparation  

 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared under historical cost 

convention except for investments at fair value through profit or loss, available for sale investments 

and investment properties that have been measured at fair value. 

 

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (“KD”), which is the 

functional and presentation currency of the Parent Company. 

 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in compliance with the adopted (“IFRSs”) 

requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise 

judgment in applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas where significant judgments and 

estimates have been made in preparing the consolidated financial statements and their effect are 

disclosed in Note 6. 
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4. Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 

 

a) New standards, interpretations and amendments effective from 1 January 2017 

 

Certain new and amended standards have been effective for the current period. However, the 

Group did not have to change its accounting policies or make retrospective adjustments as a result 

of adopting these standards: 

 

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of cash flows: Disclosure initiative 

The amendments require entities to provide disclosures about changes in their liabilities arising 

from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes 

(such as foreign exchange gains or losses). On initial application of the amendment, entities are 

not required to provide comparative information for preceding periods. The Group is not required 

to provide additional disclosures in its interim condensed consolidated financial statements, but 

will disclose additional information in its annual consolidated financial statements for the year 

ended 31 December 2017. 

 

Amendments to IAS 12 – Income Taxes: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized 

Losses 
The amendments clarify that the Group needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of 

taxable profits against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible temporary 

difference. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance on how an entity should determine 

future taxable profits and explain the circumstances in which taxable profit may include the 

recovery of some assets for more than their carrying amount. 

 

The amendments require entities to apply them retrospectively. However on initial application 

thereof, the change in the opening equity of the earliest comparative period may be recognised in 

the opening retained earnings (or in another component of equity as appropriate) without 

allocating the change between opening retained earnings and other components of equity. It is 

required that in case such relief is applied, this fact must be disclosed. 

 

Annual improvements 2014-2016 Cycle 

 

Amendments to IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in Other Entities: Clarification of the scope of 

disclosure requirements in IFRS 12 

The amendments clarify that the disclosure requirements in IFRS 12, apply to an entity’s interest 

in a subsidiary, a joint venture or an associate (or a portion of its interest in a joint venture or an 

associate) that is classified (or included in a disposal group that is classified) as held for sale. 

 

b) Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 

 

At the date of authorisation of this consolidated financial statements, certain new standards, 

amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published by the IASB but are 

not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the Group. 

 

Management anticipates that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s 

accounting policies for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncements. 

Information on new standards, amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to 

the Group’s consolidated financial statements is provided below. Certain other new standards and 

interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s 

interim consolidated financial information.  
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4.          Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 

(Continued) 

 

b) Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued) 

 

Standard or Interpretation 

Effective for annual 

periods beginning 

  
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between and an 

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments 

 

No stated date 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement 1 January 2018 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018 

IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019 

IAS 40 Investment Property – Amendments 1 January 2018 

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle 1 January 2018 

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 1 January 2018 

 

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between and an Investor and its Associate or 

Joint Venture - Amendments 

The Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in 

Associates and Joint Ventures (2011) clarify the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets 

from an investor to its associate or joint venture, as follows: 

 Require full recognition in the investor's financial statements of gains and losses arising on the 

sale or contribution of assets that constitute a business (as defined in IFRS 3 Business 

Combinations) 

 Require the partial recognition of gains and losses where the assets do not constitute a 

business, i.e. a gain or loss is recognised only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests 

in that associate or joint venture. 

 

These requirements apply regardless of the legal form of the transaction, e.g. whether the sale or 

contribution of assets occurs by an investor transferring shares in a subsidiary that holds the assets 

(resulting in loss of control of the subsidiary), or by the direct sale of the assets themselves. 

 

IASB has postponed the effective date indefinitely until other projects are completed. However, 

early implementation is allowed. 

 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments  

The IASB published IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (2014), representing the completion of its 

project to replace IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. The new 

standard introduces extensive changes to IAS 39’s guidance on the classification and 

measurement of financial assets and introduces a new ‘expected credit loss’ model for the 

impairment of financial assets. IFRS 9 also provides new guidance on the application of hedge 

accounting.  

 

Management has started to assess the impact of IFRS 9 but is not yet in a position to provide 

quantified information. At this stage the main areas of expected impact are as follows:  

 The classification and measurement of the financial assets will need to be reviewed based on 

the new criteria that considers the assets’ contractual cash flows and the business model in 

which they are managed.  

 

 

http://www.iasplus.com/en/standards/ias/ias28-2011
http://www.iasplus.com/en/standards/ifrs/ifrs3
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4.          Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)  

(Continued) 

 

b) Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued) 

 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued) 

 An expected credit loss-based impairment will need to be recognised on the trade receivables 

and investments in debt-type assets currently classified as available for sale and held-to-

maturity, unless classified as at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with the new 

criteria. 

 It will no longer be possible to measure equity investments at cost less impairment and all 

such investments will instead be measured at fair value. Changes in fair value will be 

presented in profit or loss unless an irrevocable designation is made to present them in other 

comprehensive income.  

 If the fair value option continues to be elected for certain financial liabilities, fair value 

movements will be presented in other comprehensive income to the extent those changes 

relate to own credit risk.  

 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  

IFRS 15 replaced IAS 18 “Revenues”, IAS 11 “Construction Contract” and several revenues – 

related Interpretations and provides a new control-based revenue recognition model using five-

step approach to all contracts with customers. 

 

The five steps in the model are as follows: 

 Identify the contract with the customer 

 Identify the performance obligations in the contract 

 Determine the transaction price 

 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts 

 Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 

 

The standard includes important guidance, such as 

 Contracts involving the delivery of two or more goods or services – when to account 

separately for the individual performance obligations in a multiple element arrangement, how 

to allocate the transaction price, and when to combine contracts  

 Timing – whether revenue is required to be recognized over time or at a single point in time  

 Variable pricing and credit risk – addressing how to treat arrangements with variable or 

contingent (e.g. performance-based) pricing, and introducing an overall constraint on revenue  

 Time value – when to adjust a contract price for a financing component  

 Specific issues, including –  

o non-cash consideration and asset exchanges  

o contract costs  

o rights of return and other customer options  

o supplier repurchase options  

o warranties  

o principal versus agent  

o licensing  

o breakage  

o non-refundable upfront fees, and  

o consignment and bill-and-hold arrangements.  
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4.          Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 

(Continued) 
 

b) Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued) 

 

IFRS 16 Leases  

IFRS 16 will replace IAS 17 and three related Interpretations. Leases will be recorded on the 

statement of financial position in the form of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. 

 

Management is yet to fully assess the impact of the Standard and therefore is unable to provide 

quantified information. However, in order to determine the impact, management is in the process 

of: 

 Performing a full review of all agreements to assess whether any additional contracts will now 

become a lease under IFRS 16’s new definition  

 Deciding which transitional provision to adopt; either full retrospective application or partial 

retrospective application (which means comparatives do not need to be restated). The partial 

application method also provides optional relief from reassessing whether contracts in place 

are, or contain, a lease, as well as other reliefs. Deciding which of these practical expedients to 

adopt is important as they are one-off choices  

 Assessing their current disclosures for finance and operating leases as these are likely to form 

the basis of the amounts to be capitalised and become right-of-use assets  

 Determining which optional accounting simplifications apply to their lease portfolio and if 

they are going to use these exemptions  

 Assessing the additional disclosures that will be required. 
 

IFRS 40 Investment Property - Amendments 

The Amendments to IAS 40 clarifies that transfers to, or from, investment property are required 

when, and only when, there is a change in use of property supported by evidence. The 

amendments also re-characterise the list of circumstances appearing in paragraph 57(a)–(d) as a 

non-exhaustive list of examples of evidence that a change in use has occurred. The Board has also 

clarified that a change in management’s intent, by itself, does not provide sufficient evidence that 

a change in use has occurred. Evidence of a change in use must be observable. 

 

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle 

Amendments to IAS 28 - Clarifies that a qualifying entity is able to choose between applying the 

equity method or measuring an investment in an associate or joint venture at fair value through 

profit or loss, separately for each associate or joint venture at initial recognition of the associate or 

joint venture. Amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 

  

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 

The Interpretations looks at what exchange rate to use for translation when payments are made or 

received in advance of the related asset, expense or income. Diversity was observed in practice in 

circumstances in which an entity recognises a non-monetary liability arising from advance 

consideration. The diversity resulted from the fact that some entities were recognising revenue 

using the spot exchange rate at the date of the receipt of the advance consideration while others 

were using the spot exchange rate at the date that revenue was recognized. IFRIC 22 addresses 

this issue by clarifying that the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the 

exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) is 

the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability 

arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration. 
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5. Significant accounting policies 

 

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements are set out below. 

 

5.1 Basis of consolidation 

 

The Group controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 

the subsidiary. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for reporting dates which 

are typically not more than three months from that of the Parent Company, using consistent 

accounting policies. Adjustments are made for the effect of any significant transactions or events 

that occur between that date and the reporting date of the Parent Company’s financial statements. 

 

All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including 

unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group companies. Where unrealised losses on 

intra-group asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for 

impairment from a Group perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries 

have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by 

the Group.  

 

Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed during the year 

are recognised from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as 

applicable.  

 

Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s 

statement of income and net assets that is not held by the Group. The Group attributes total 

comprehensive income or loss of subsidiaries between the Shareholders of the Parent Company and 

the non-controlling interests based on their respective ownership interests. 

 

When a controlling interest in the subsidiaries is disposed off, the difference between the selling 

price and the net asset value plus cumulative translation difference and goodwill is recognised in 

the consolidated statement of income. 

 

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing 

control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the 

Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their 

relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-

controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is 

recognised directly in equity and attributed to the Shareholders of the Parent Company. 

 

5.2 Revenue recognition 

 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 

Group and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when payment is made. Revenue 

arises from the rendering of the services and it is measured by reference to fair value of 

consideration received or receivable. The Group applies the revenue recognition criteria set out 

below to each separately identifiable component of revenue. 

 

Sale of goods 

Sale of goods is recognised when the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and 

rewards of ownership, generally when the customer has taken undisputed delivery of the goods. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 

5.2 Revenue recognition (Continued) 

 

Revenue from service 

Revenue from service is recognised when services are rendered. 

 

Construction contracts 

When the outcome can be assessed reliably, contract revenue and associated costs are recognised 

by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the reporting date. Revenue is 

measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable in relation to that activity.  

 

When the Group cannot measure the outcome of a contract reliably, revenue is recognised only to 

the extent of contract costs that have been incurred and are recoverable. Contract costs are 

recognised in the period in which they are incurred. 

 

In either situation, when it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, 

the expected loss is recognised immediately in consolidated statement of income. 

 

A construction contract’s stage of completion is assessed by management based on milestones 

(usually defined in the contract) for the activities to be carried out under the contract and other 

available relevant information at the reporting date. The maximum amount of revenue recognised 

for each milestone is determined by estimating relative contract fair values of each contract phase, 

i.e. by comparing the Group’s overall contract revenue with the expected profit for each 

corresponding milestone. Progress and related contract revenue in-between milestones is 

determined by comparing costs incurred to date with the total estimated costs estimated for that 

particular milestone (a procedure sometimes referred to as the cost-to-cost method).  

 

The gross amount due from customers for contract work is presented within trade and other 

receivables for all contracts in progress for which costs incurred plus recognised profits (less 

recognised losses) exceeds progress billings. The gross amount due to customers for contract work 

is presented within other liabilities for all contracts in progress for which progress billings exceed 

costs incurred plus recognised profits (less recognised losses). 

 

Dividend income 

Dividend income, other than those from investments in associates, are recognised at the time the 

right to receive payment is established. 

 

Rental income 

Rental income arising from investment properties is accounted for on a straight line basis over the 

lease term.  

 

Interest and similar income  

Interest income and expenses are reported on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.  

 

5.3 Operating expenses 

 

Operating expenses are recognised in consolidated statement of income upon utilisation of the 

service or at the date of their origin.  
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5. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 

5.4 Finance costs 

 

Finance costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of income on a time proportion basis 

over the period of related liabilities. 

 

5.5 Taxation 

 

National Labour Support Tax (NLST) 

NLST is calculated in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 and the Minister of Finance 

Resolutions No. 24 of 2006 at 2.5% of taxable profit of the Group after deducting Directors’ fees 

for the year. As per law, income from associates and subsidiaries, cash dividends from listed 

companies which are subjected to NLST have to be deducted from the profit for the year. 

 

Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS) 

The contribution to KFAS is calculated at 1% of taxable profit of the Group in accordance with the 

modified calculation based on the Foundation’s Board of Directors’ resolution, which states that 

income from associates and subsidiaries, Board of Directors’ remuneration, transfer to statutory 

reserve should be excluded from profit for the year when determining the contribution. 

 

Zakat 

Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit of the Group in accordance with the Ministry 

of Finance resolution No. 58/2007 effective from 10 December 2007. 

 

Under the NLST and Zakat regulations no carry forward of losses to the future years or any carry 

back to prior years is permitted.  

 

Taxation on overseas subsidiaries  
Taxation on overseas subsidiaries is calculated on the basis of the tax rates applicable and 

prescribed according to the prevailing laws, regulations and instructions of the countries where 

these subsidiaries operate. 

 

5.6 Segment reporting 
 

The Group has two operating segments: investment and other segments. In identifying these 

operating segments, management generally follows the Group’s service lines representing its main 

products and services. Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each requires 

different approaches and other resources. All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm’s length 

prices. 
 

For management purposes, the Group uses the same measurement policies as those used in its 

financial statements. In addition, assets or liabilities which are not directly attributable to the 

business activities of any operating segment are not allocated to a segment.  
 

5.7 Business combinations 
 

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The 

consideration transferred by the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of 

the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity interests 

issued by the Group, which includes the fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent 

consideration arrangement. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred. For each business 

combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value 

or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 

5.7 Business combinations (continued) 

 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s 

previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date 

through consolidated statement of income. 

 

The Group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination 

regardless of whether they have been previously recognised in the acquiree’s financial statements 

prior to the acquisition. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are generally measured at their 

acquisition-date fair values.  

 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 

appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 

circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 

embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. 

 

Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assets. It is calculated as the 

excess of the sum of (a) fair value of consideration transferred, (b) the recognised amount of any 

non controlling interest in the acquiree and (c) acquisition-date fair value of any existing equity 

interest in the acquiree, over the acquisition-date fair values of identifiable net assets. If the fair 

values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum calculated above, the excess amount (ie gain on a 

bargain purchase) is recognised in consolidated statement of income immediately. 

 

5.8 Property, plant and equipment 

 

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at acquisition cost or manufacturing cost, 

including any costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to the location and condition 

necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the Group’s management.  

 

Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured using the cost model, cost less 

subsequent depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis 

to write down the cost less estimated residual value of equipment. The useful life and depreciation 

method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the method and period of depreciation are 

consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits arising from items of property, plant and 

equipment. The following useful lives are applied: 

 

• Leasehold land: 20 years 

• Office building: 20-30 years 

• Machinery and equipment: 6-20 years 

• Furniture and fixtures: 4-10 years 

 

Material residual value estimates and estimates of useful life are updated as required, but at least 

annually. 

 

When assets are sold or retired, their cost and accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the 

accounts and any gain or loss resulting from their disposal is recognised in the consolidated 

statement of income. 

 

 

 



Privatization Holding Company – KPSC and subsidiaries 

State of Kuwait  
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2017 

 
 
 

20 

 

5. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 

5.9 Intangible assets 
 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of 

intangible assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. 

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation 

and accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised 

development costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is reflected in the consolidated statement of 

income in the year in which the expenditure is incurred. 

 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 
 

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for 

impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The 

amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are 

reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the 

expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered 

to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in 

accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised 

in the consolidated statement of income. 

 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment 

annually, either individually or at the CGU level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed 

annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in 

useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. 

 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference 

between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the 

consolidated statement of income when the asset is derecognised. 

 

A summary of the policies applied to the Group’s intangible assets is as follows: 
 

 Goodwill  Other intangible assets 

    

Useful lives Indefinite  Finite 

Amortisation method used No amortisation 

 Amortised on a straight-line basis over a 

period of 1 to 4 years 

 

5.10 Impairment testing of non financial assets 

 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s 

carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell 

and value-in-use. To determine the value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows 

from each cash-generating unit and determines a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the 

present value of those cash flows. The data used for impairment testing procedures are directly 

linked to the Group’s latest approved budget, adjusted as necessary to exclude the effects of future 

reorganisations and asset enhancements. Discount factors are determined individually for each 

cash-generating unit and reflect management’s assessment of respective risk profiles, such as 

market and asset-specific risks factors. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 

  

5.10 Impairment testing of non financial assets (continued) 

 

Impairment losses for cash-generating units reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill 

allocated to that cash-generating unit. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the 

other assets in the generating unit. With the exception of goodwill, all assets are subsequently 

reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist. An 

impairment charge is reversed if the cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying 

amount. 

 

5.11 Discontinued operations 

 

Discontinued operations represent part of the Group’s business, which their results and cash flows 

can be separated clearly from rest of the Group, which are also: 

 Represent substantial activity or separate geographic segment.  

 Represent part of a coordinated plan to exclude substantial activity or separate geographic 

segment.  

 Include subsidiaries acquired principally for sale subsequently. 

 

These operations are classified as discontinued operations at sale or when classification conditions 

are met as discontinued operations, whichever shall first occur.   

 

Revenues and expenses related to discontinued operations are recognised separately from revenues 

and expenses related to continuing operations in the consolidated statement of income until the 

profitability level of the period ended at the date of the financial statements and comparative 

periods. This is even if the Group retains non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after sale, 

whereas profit or loss are recognised as separate item in the consolidated statement of income. 

 

5.12 Investment properties 

 

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, and are 

accounted for using the fair value model.  

 

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequently, 

investment properties are revalued annually and are included in the statement of financial position 

at their fair values. These values are supported by market evidence and are determined by external 

professional valuers with sufficient experience with respect to both the location and the nature of 

the investment property. Fair values are determined based on lower of two annual evaluations 

performed by accredited external, independent real estate valuers. 

 

Any gain or loss resulting from either a change in the fair value or the sale of an investment 

property is immediately recognised in consolidated statement of income. 

 

Transfers are made to or from investment properties only when there is a change in use. For a 

transfer from investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent 

accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an 

investment property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated 

under property, plant and equipment up to the date of change in use. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 

5.13 Investment in associates 
 

Associates are those entities over which the Group is able to exert significant influence but which 

are neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures. Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost 

and subsequently accounted for using the equity method. Any goodwill or fair value adjustment 

attributable to the Group’s share in the associate is not recognised separately and is included in the 

amount recognised as investment in associates.  
 

Under the equity method, the carrying amount of the investment in associates is increased or 

decreased to recognise the Group’s share of the income and other comprehensive income of the 

associate, adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies of the 

Group.  
 

Unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures 

are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in those entities. Where unrealised losses are 

eliminated, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment. 
 

The difference in reporting dates of the associates and the Group is not more than three months. 

Adjustments are made for the effects of significant transactions or events that occur between 

that date and the date of the Group’s consolidated financial statements. The associate’s 

accounting policies conform to those used by the Group for like transactions and events in 

similar circumstances. 
 

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any 

retaining investment at its fair value. Any differences between the carrying amount of the associate 

upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the remaining investment and proceeds from 

disposal are recognised in the consolidated statement of income. 

 

5.14 Financial instruments  

 

Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted 

by transactions costs, except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss which are 

measured initially at fair value.  

 

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of financial asset or part of group of similar financial 

assets) is derecognised when:  

 Rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired;  

 The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 

obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a 

‘pass through’ arrangement and either. 

(a) The Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset or  

(b) The Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all risks and rewards of the 

asset but has transferred control of the asset. 

 

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a 

pass- through arrangement and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 

rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, a new asset is recognised to the extent of 

the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 

5.14 Financial instruments (Continued) 

 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 

cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same 

lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 

modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability 

and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 

recognised in consolidated statement of income. 

 

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets 

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets other than those designated and 

effective as hedging instruments are classified into the following categories upon initial 

recognition: 

 loans and receivables 

 financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

 available for sale investments (AFS) 

 held to maturity investments (HTM) 

All financial assets except for those at FVTPL are subject to review for impairment at least at each 

reporting date to identify whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a Group 

of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each 

category of financial assets, which are described below.  

 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment. Discounting is omitted 

where the effect of discounting is immaterial. 

 

Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or when 

other objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. Receivables that are 

not considered to be individually impaired are reviewed for impairment in Groups, which are 

determined by reference to the industry and region of a counterparty and other shared credit risk 

characteristics. The impairment loss estimate is then based on recent historical counterparty default 

rates for each identified Group. 

 

The Group categorises loans and receivables into following categories: 

 

Accounts receivable and other debit balances 

Receivables are stated at original invoice amount based on contractual agreement less allowance 

for any uncollectible amounts. An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full 

amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off as incurred. 

 

Due from related parties 

Due from related parties are financial assets originated by the Group by providing money directly 

to the borrower that have fixed or determinable payments and are not quoted in an active market.  

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank balances and saving accounts net of bank 

overdrafts that are readily convertible into know amounts of cash which are subject to an 

insignificant risk of changes in value. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 

5.14 Financial instruments (Continued) 

 

Loans and receivables (continued) 

 

Fixed deposits  

Fixed deposits are stated at the balance invested and do not include related accrual of profit. 

 

Financial assets at FVTPL 

Classification of investments as financial assets at FVTPL depends on how management monitors 

the performance of these investments. When they are not classified as held for trading but have 

readily available reliable fair values and the changes in fair values are reported as part of 

consolidated statement of income in the management accounts, they are as designated at FVTPL 

upon initial recognition. All derivative financial instruments fall into this category, except for those 

designated and effective as hedging instruments, for which the hedge accounting requirements 

apply. 

 

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in consolidated 

statement of income. The fair values of financial assets in this category are determined by reference 

to active market transactions or using a valuation technique where no active market exists. 

 

AFS financial assets 

AFS financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated to this category or 

do not qualify for inclusion in any of the other categories of financial assets. 

 

Financial assets whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost less impairment 

losses, if any. Impairment charges are recognised in consolidated statement of income. All other 

AFS financial assets are measured at fair value. Gains and losses are recognised in other 

comprehensive income and reported within the fair value reserve within equity, except for 

impairment losses, and foreign exchange differences on monetary assets, which are recognised in 

consolidated statement of income. When the asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, 

the cumulative gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from the 

equity reserve to consolidated statement of income and presented as a reclassification adjustment 

within other comprehensive income. 

 

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 

available for sale or a group of financial assets available for sale is impaired. In the case of equity 

investments classified as financial assets available for sale, objective evidence would include a 

significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the equity investment below its cost. 

 

‘Significant’ is evaluated against the original cost of the investment and ‘prolonged’ against the 

period in which the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is evidence of 

impairment, the cumulative loss is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in 

the consolidated statement of income.  

 

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in other comprehensive income, except for financial 

assets that are debt securities which are recognised in consolidated statement of income only if the 

reversal can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 

5.14 Financial instruments (Continued) 

 

HTM investments 

HTM investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 

fixed maturity other than loans and receivables. Investments are classified as HTM if the Group has 

the intention and ability to hold them until maturity.  

 

HTM investments are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

If there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired, determined by reference to external 

credit ratings, the financial asset is measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows. 

Any changes to the carrying amount of the investment, including impairment losses, are recognised 

in statement of income. 

 

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities 

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts payable and other credit balances, term loans and 

bank overdraft. 

 

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows: 

 

Accounts payable and other liabilities  

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, 

whether billed by the supplier or not.  

 

Term loans 

All term loans are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of income when the liabilities are 

derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate method (EIR) amortisation process. 

 

Due to related parties 

Due to related parties are financial liabilities arising in the normal courses of the business and are 

not quoted in an active market.  

 

5.15 Inventories 

 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes all expenses 

directly attributable to the manufacturing process as well as suitable portions of related production 

overheads, based on normal operating capacity. Cost of finished goods is calculated using first-in 

first-out method. For other items of inventory, cost is calculated using the weighted average cost 

method. 

 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less any 

applicable selling expenses. 

 

5.16 Amortised cost of financial instruments 

 

This is computed using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. The 

calculation takes into account any premium or discount on acquisition and includes transaction 

costs and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 
 

5.17 Trade and settlement date accounting 
 

All ‘regular way’ purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the 

date that the entity commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are 

purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally 

established by regulation or convention in the market place. 

 

5.18 Offsetting of financial instruments 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated 

statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset 

the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and 

settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

 

5.19 Fair value of financial instruments 

 

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is 

determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long 

positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.  

 

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using 

appropriate valuation techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market 

transactions; reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; 

a discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models. 

 

5.20 Equity, reserves and dividend payments 
 

Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued and paid up. 
 

Statutory and general reserves comprise appropriations of current and prior period profits in 

accordance with the requirements of the Companies Law and the Parent Company’s Memorandum 

of Incorporation and Articles of Association.  
 

Other components of equity include the following: 

• Foreign currency translation reserve – comprises foreign currency translation differences arising 

from the translation of financial statements of the Group’s foreign entities into Kuwaiti Dinars. 

• Fair value reserve – comprises gains and losses relating to available for sale investments. 

• Treasury shares reserve – comprises gains and losses arising from sale of treasury shares. 

• Other reserves – mainly comprises gains and losses arising from partial acquisition and disposal 

of subsidiaries. 
 

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses) include all current and prior period retained profit/ 

(accumulated losses).  

 

Dividend distributions payable to equity Shareholders are included in accounts payable and other 

credit balances when the dividends have been approved in a General Assembly meeting. 
 

5.21 Treasury shares 
 

Treasury shares consist of the Parent Company’s own issued shares that have been reacquired by 

the Group and not yet reissued or cancelled. The treasury shares are accounted for using the cost 

method. Under this method, the weighted average cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a 

contra account in equity.  
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5. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 

5.21 Treasury shares (Continued) 

 

When the treasury shares are reissued, gains are credited to a separate account in equity, (the 

“treasury shares reserve”), which is not distributable. Any realised losses are charged to the same 

account to the extent of the credit balance on that account. Any excess losses are charged to 

retained earnings then to the general reserve and statutory reserve. No cash dividends are paid on 

these shares. The issue of stock dividend shares increases the number of treasury shares 

proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without affecting the total cost of treasury 

shares. 

 

5.22 Employees’ end of service benefits 
 

The Group provides end of service benefits to its employees. The entitlement to these benefits is 

based upon the employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a 

minimum service period in accordance with relevant labour law and the employees’ contracts. The 

expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment. This liability, which is 

unfunded, represents the amount payable to each employee as a result of termination on the 

reporting date. 
 

With respect to its Kuwaiti national employees, the group makes contributions to the Public 

Institution for Social Security calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The group’s 

obligations are limited to these contributions, which are expensed when due. 
 

5.23 Foreign currency translation 
 

Functional and presentation currency 

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial 

statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. 
 

Foreign currency transactions and balances  

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective group 

entity, using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 

remeasurement of monetary items denominated in foreign currency at year-end exchange rates are 

recognised in consolidated statement of income. Non-monetary items are not retranslated at year-

end and are measured at historical cost (translated using the exchange rates at the transaction date), 

except for non-monetary items measured at fair value which are translated using the exchange rates 

at the date when fair value was determined. 
 

Foreign operations  

In the Group’s financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of Group entities with a 

functional currency other than the KD are translated into KD upon consolidation. The functional 

currency of the entities in the Group has remained unchanged during the reporting period. 
 

On consolidation, assets and liabilities have been translated into KD at the closing rate at the 

reporting date. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity 

have been treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated into KD at the closing 

rate. Income and expenses have been translated into KD at the average rate over the reporting 

period. Exchange differences are charged/credited to other comprehensive income and recognised 

in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, the related 

cumulative translation differences recognised in equity are reclassified to consolidated statement of 

income and are recognised as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 
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5. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 

 

5.24 Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities 

 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result 

of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required from the 

Group and amounts can be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be 

uncertain. 

 

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based 

on the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties 

associated with the present obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the 

likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of 

obligations as a whole. Provisions are discounted to their present values, where the time value of 

money is material. 

 

Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed 

when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are 

disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. 

 

5.25 Related party transactions 

 

Related parties consist of major Shareholders, associates, directors, executive officers, their close 

family members and companies of which they are principal Shareholders. All related party 

transactions are approved by management. 

 

6. Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty  

 

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets 

and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. 

However uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a 

material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods. 

 

Significant management judgments  

 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 

significant judgments, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 

consolidated financial statements: 

 

Classification of financial instruments 

Judgements are made in the classification of financial instruments based on management’s 

intention at acquisition. 

 

The Group classifies financial assets as held for trading if they are acquired primarily for the 

purpose of short term profit making. 
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6. Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty (Continued) 

 

Significant management judgments (continued) 

 

Classification of financial assets as at fair value through profit or loss depends on how management 

monitors the performance of these financial assets. When they are not classified as held for trading 

but have readily available fair values and the changes in fair values are reported as part of 

consolidated statement of income in the management accounts, they are classified as fair value 

through profit or loss. 

 

Classification of assets as loans and receivables depends on the nature of the asset. If the Group is 

unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive market and the intention is to receive fixed or 

determinable payments the financial asset is classified as loans and receivables. 

 

The management classifies investments as held-to-maturity if they are non-derivative financial 

assets which carry fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities and which the management 

has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. 
 

All other financial assets are classified as available for sale. 
 

Classification of real estate  

Management decides on acquisition of a real estate whether it should be classified as trading, 

property held for development or investment property. 
 

The Group classifies property as trading property if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary 

course of business 
 

The Group classifies property as property under development if it is acquired with the intention of 

development. 

 

The Group classifies property as investment property if it is acquired to generate rental income or 

for capital appreciation, or for undetermined future use. 

 

Control assessment 

When determining control, management considers whether the Group has the practical ability to 

direct the relevant activities of an investee on its own to generate returns for itself. The assessment 

of relevant activities and ability to use its power to affect variable return requires considerable 

judgement.  

 

Estimates uncertainty  

 

Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition 

and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may 

be substantially different. 

 

Impairment of associates 

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise 

any impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associated companies, at each reporting date 

based on existence of any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this 

is the case the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the 

recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount in the 

consolidated statement of income. 
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6. Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty (Continued) 

 

Estimates uncertainty (continued) 

 
Impairment of available for sale equity investments 

The Group treats available for sale equity investments as impaired when there has been a 

significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost or where other objective evidence of 

impairment exists. The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires considerable 

judgment. 

 

Impairment of receivables 

An estimate of the collectible amount of accounts receivable is made when collection of the full 

amount is no longer probable. For individually significant amounts, this estimation is performed on 

an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are past due, are 

assessed collectively and a provision applied according to the length of time past due, based on 

historical recovery rates. 

 

Useful lives of depreciable assets 

Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, 

based on the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technical 

obsolescence that may change the utility of certain software and equipment. 

 

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets  

The Group determines whether goodwill and intangible assets are impaired at least on an annual 

basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the 

goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the 

expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate 

in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. 

 

Fair value of financial instruments 

Management applies valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments 

(where active market quotes are not available) and non-financial assets. This requires management 

to develop estimates and assumptions based on market inputs, using observable data that market 

participants would use in pricing the instrument. Where such data is not observable, management 

uses its best estimate. Estimated fair values of financial instruments may vary from the actual 

prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Privatization Holding Company – KPSC and subsidiaries 

State of Kuwait  
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2017 

 
 
 

31 

 

7. Subsidiaries 
 

Composition of the Group 

Set out below are details of the subsidiaries held by the Group: 

  

Country of 

incorporation  

 

Voting capital held  

 

Activities 

    2017  2016   

Held directly:         

Global Projects Holding Company - K.S.C. 

(Closed) (“GPHC”) (1 and 2) 

 

Kuwait 
 

96.0% 

 

96.0% 

 

Investment 

Specialized Environmental Services 

Company - W.L.L. (“SES”) (1) 

 

Kuwait 
 

99.0% 

 

99.0% 

 

Investment 

Global Commercial Privatization Company 

– W.L.L. (1) (a) 

  

Kuwait 
 

- 

  

99.0% 

 

Import and export 

Global Professional General Trading 

Company -W.L.L. 

 

Kuwait 
 

62.0% 

 

62.0% 

 General trading and 

investment 

Combined Trust Real Estate Company - 

W.L.L. (b) 

 

Kuwait 
 

- 

 

51.0% 

 

Real estate 

Privatisation Agriculture Contracting 

Company –W.L.L. (1) 

 

Kuwait 
 

99.0% 

 

99.0% 

 General trading and 

contracting 

Global Privatisation for Medical Services 

Company – W.L.L. (1) 

 

Kuwait 
 

99.0% 

 

99.0% 

 General trading and 

contracting  

Global Specialised Electrical Company – 

W.L.L. (1) 

 

Kuwait 
 

99.0% 

 

99.0% 

 

Electric power generation 

Specialized Education Company – W.L.L. 

(1) 

 
Kuwait 

 
99.0% 

 
99.0% 

 
Educational services 

Wuduh Financial and Economic Consulting 

Company – K.S.C. (Closed) (1) 

 

Kuwait 
 

99.0% 

 

99.0% 

 

Consultancy services 

Daytona Production Company – W.L.L. (1)  Kuwait  99.0%  99.0%  Advertising and publishing 

Privatization Holding Company – W.L.L. 

Jordan  

 

Jordan 
 

100% 

 

100% 

 

Manufacturing  

PHC Renovation – LLC  USA  100%  100%  Real estate  

Skills Entertainment Company – W.L.L.  

 

Kuwait 

 

100% 

 

100% 

 Organizing exhibitions, 

conferences and theatre 
production 

Abyar Gulf Company for General Trading 

and Contracting - W.L.L. (“Abyar”) (3) 

 

Kuwait 

 

50.0% 

 

50.0% 

 General trading and 

contracting 

Fairy Hub General Trading Company - 

W.L.L.  (4) 

 

Kuwait  85.0%  - 

 General trading and 

contracting 

Leader Plus General Trading Company – 

W.L.L. 

 

Kuwait  99.0%  99.0% 

 General trading and 

contracting 

Al Takhsis Al Mutamada General Trading 

and Contracting Company (formerly SNC-

Lavalin Kuwait for General Trading and 

Contracting Company – W.L.L.) (5) 

 

Kuwait  99.0% 

 

- 

 

General trading and 

contracting 
         

Held through GPHC: 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

Gas and Oil Fields Services Company - 

K.S.C. (Closed) (“GOFSCO”) (c)  Kuwait  -  90.1%  

Maintenance of oil and 

gas wells and related 
installations 

Held through GOFSCO:         

Grand Oil for Oil Activities Company - 

K.S.C. (Closed) 
 

Kuwait 
 

- 

 

99.0% 

 Oil and gas sludge 

cleaning activities 

Eastern United Petroleum Services Company 

-KSC (Closed) (“EUPS”) (d) 

 

Kuwait 
 

- 

 

91.1% 

 

Oil and gas activities 

Noor Gazprom Geophysics for Drilling and 

Maintenance of Oil and Non-Oil Wells 

Company –W.L.L. (“Gazprom”) 

 

Kuwait 

 

- 

 

51.0% 

 Drilling and 

maintenance of oil and 

non-oil wells 

Held through Abyaar:         

Privatization Engineering Company for 

General Contracting - W.L.L. (3) 

 

Kuwait 

 

50.0% 

 

50.0% 

 General trading and 

contracting 
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7. Subsidiaries (Continued) 

 

Composition of the Group (continued) 
 

1. An insignificant holding of shares are held by nominees who have confirmed in writing that 

the Parent Company has the beneficial ownership interest in the subsidiary through a letter of 

assignment. 

 

2. The Parent Company holds 50% and the subsidiary SES holds 46%. 

 

3. The Group classified its 50% investment in “Privatization Engineering Company for General 

Contracting - W.L.L.” and “Abyar Gulf Company for General Trading and Contracting - 

W.L.L. (“Abyar”)” as investment in subsidiary since the management believes the Group has 

the power to control the investee through key management which is also a significant owner of 

those companies.  

 

4. During the year, the Group incorporated an 85% owned subsidiary in Kuwait named Fairy 

Hub General Trading Company – W.L.L. with a total share capital of KD 140,000.  

 

5. During the year, the Group acquired additional ownership interest of 69% in Al Takhsis Al 

Mutamada General Trading and Contracting Company (formerly SNC-Lavalin Kuwait for 

General Trading and Contracting Company – W.L.L.) which resulted in obtaining a control 

over the Company, consequently the Group reclassified the Company as investments in 

subsidiaries from investment in associate. The name of the subsidiary has been changed to Al 

Takhsis Al Mutamada General Trading and Contracting Company – W.L.L. (14 c) 

 

Discontinued operations 

 

a) During the year, the Parent Company disposed Global Commercial Privatization Company –

W.L.L. (99% direct subsidiary). The disposal of this subsidiary resulted in a gain amounting 

to KD 010111. 

 

b) During the year, the Parent Company disposed Combined Trust Real Estate Company –

W.L.L. (51% direct subsidiary). The disposal of this subsidiary resulted in a gain amounting 

to KD 010111. 

 

c) During the year, Board of Directors of the Parent Company disposed of Gas and Oil Services 

Company (GOFSCO) K.S.C. (Closed) (90.09%)  

 

Income information related to the discontinued operations are restated to include as discontinued 

operations in the current year.  

 

Below is a summary of business results related to the discontinued operation: 

  GOFSCO 

  2017  2016 

 KD  KD 
    

Revenues 3,901,673  26,834,152 

Expenses (3,645,104)  (24,531,317) 

Net profit for the year related to discontinued operations  965,652  2,302,835 

Gain on sale of subsidiaries (7 c) 9,022,722  - 

 7,7,6,550  2,302,835 
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7. Subsidiaries (Continued) 

 

Discontinued operations (continued) 

 

The most significant items related to GOFSCO disposed that represent discontinued operations 

are as follows: 

 GOFSCO 

 2017  2016 

 KD  KD 

    

Assets    

Property, plant and equipment 14,655,435  15,043,189 

Goodwill (Note 12) 342,734  342,734 

Inventories 590,950  581,395 

Due to related parties 3,500,000  3,504,060 

Accounts receivables and other debit assets 8,650,807  7,258,239 

Investment at fair value though profit or loss 25,307  23,139 

Fixed deposit 1,246,625  1,246,625 

Bank balances and cash* 879,186  1,296,931 

Total assets designated as discontinued operations 29,891,044  29,296,312 

    

Liabilities    

Employees’ end of services benefits 479,546  464,783 

Term Loans  4,639,982  4,867,975 

Bank overdraft* 397,419  - 

Accounts payables and other credit balances 7,785,759  7,631,786 

Total liabilities designated as discontinued operations 13,302,706  12,964,544 

Net assets related to the subsidiary subjects to disposal 16,588,338  16,331,768 

Net assets attributable to non controlling interest  8,597,502  00,010,11 

Net assets attributable to the owners of Company 14,964,660  14,711,018 

Ownership interest held by the Group 27.72%  91.19% 

Net assets attributable to the Group  87,,28,220  13,253,378 

Goodwill (Note 12) 2,150,171  2,150,171 

Net assets directly associated with discontinued operation  86,579,762  0104130149 

    

Sales consideration   18,018,302 

Net assets directly associated with discontinued operation    (86,579,762) 

Gain on sale of subsidiaries 2017   9,725,9,, 

Reclassified gain from equity arose from partial deposal in 2016   ,79,26, 

Total gain on sale of subsidiaries (Note 7 c)   9,022,722 

 

*Net cash out flow from disposal is KD 481,768. Consideration of KD 18,018,302 is to be settled 

as described in Note 17. 

 

Earnings per share from discontinued operations are as follows:  

 

 

 

   GOFSCO 

  2017  2016 

     

Basic Earnings per share (fils) (Note 10)  5.02  3.45  
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7.    Subsidiaries (Continued) 

 

Discontinued operations (continued) 

 

Net cash flows related to discontinued operations as follows:  

 

   GOFSCO 

  2017  2016 

  KD  KD 

     

Net cash flows from operating activities   (581,441)  7,548,622 

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (5,730)  (2,321,572) 

Net cash flows used in financing activities  (227,942)  (6,311,335) 

Net cash outflows  (815,113)  (1,084,285) 

 

d) Subsequent to GOFSCO disposal, the Group reclassified 42.78% stake (Directly held) in 

Eastern United Petroleum Company – K.S.C. (Closed) to investment in associate along with 

goodwill that arose from step acquisition during 2016 amounting to KD 489,694 which was 

recognized in equity. 

 

Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests 

The Group’s following subsidiaries have material non-controlling interests (NCI): 

 

 

 

Name 

 Proportion of ownership 

interests and voting 

rights 

held by the NCI  

 

Profit(loss) allocated to 

NCI  

Accumulated  

NCI 

  2017  2016  2017  2016  2017  2016 

      KD  KD  KD  KD 
             

Gas and Oil Fields Services Company -KSC 

(Closed) (“GOFSCO”) 
 

-  9.9%  -  228,528  -  1,768,720 
Abyar Gulf Company for General Trading and 

Contracting - W.L.L. (“Abyar”) 
 

50%  50%  78,080  249,531  1,996,909  1,968,828 

Individual immaterial susbsidiaries with non 
controlling interest 

 

-  -  50,771  (20,978)  (146,946)  (116,384) 

      128,851  457,081  1,849,963  3,621,164 

 

Summarised consolidated financial statements of material non-controlling interests, before inter-

group eliminations, is set out below: 

 
Abyar Gulf Company for General Trading and Contract – W.L.L. 

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

    

Non-current assets 1,574,674  1,680,627 

Current assets 5,713,069  5,403,717 

Total assets 7,287,743  7,084,344 
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7. Subsidiaries (Continued) 

 

Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (continued)  
 

Abyar Gulf Company for General Trading and Contract – W.L.L. (continued) 

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

    

Non-current liabilities 170,652  235,970 

Current liabilities 3,881,454  2,749,252 

Total liabilities 4,052,106  2,985,222 
    

    

Net assets 3,235,637  4,099,122 

Ownership interest held by the Group 50 %  50 % 

Ownership interest held by non-controlling interests 50 %  50 % 

Net assets attributable to the owners of Parent Company 2,477,456  3,340,437 

Net assets attributable to non-controlling interests  758,181  758,685 

Total equity 3,235,637  4,099,122 

    

Revenues 3,730,758  4,186,659 

Expenses (3,574,093)  (3,814,486) 

Net profit  156,665  372,173 

 

8. Interest income  

 

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

    

Fixed deposits 49,958  47,286 

Held-to-maturity investments 69,223  63,563 

Other cash balances 3,450  5,092 

 122,631  115,941 

 

9. General and administrative expenses  

 

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

    

Staff costs 1,939,596  1,629,523 

Other expenses 1,179,822  1,175,519 

 3,119,418  2,805,042 
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10. Basic and diluted earnings/(losses) per share attributable to the Shareholders of the Parent 

Company 
 

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) for the year 

attributable to Shareholders of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of shares 

outstanding during the year, less treasury shares as follows: 

 

 

 

2017  2016 

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to Shareholders of the 

Parent Company (KD) 3,150,506  (2,449,848) 

Net profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations (KD) 84,839  (4,752,683) 

Discontinued operations (KD) 3,065,667  2,302,835 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding less treasury 

shares (No’s)  610,000,000  668,420,104 

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share attributable to 

Shareholders of the Parent Company (fils) 5.16  (3.66)  

From continuing operations (fils) 0.14  (7.11)  

From discontinued operations (fils) 5.02  3.45  
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11. Property, plant and equipment 

 

Leasehold 

land 

 

Office 

building 

 Machinery 

 and  

equipment 

 Furniture 

 and  

fixtures 

 Capital 

 work in 

progress 

 

Total 

 

KD  KD  KD  KD  KD  KD 

Cost:    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 At 1 January 2017 2,307,486  2,630,924  26,924,467  810,735  1,789,902  34,463,514 

Subsidiary derecognition (816,479)  (578,830)  (17,225,637)  (260,432)  (1,592,373)  (20,473,751) 

Additions -  38,642  134,397  37,583  -  210,622 

Transfers -  -  196,679  -  (196,679)  - 

Reclassification -  24,842  (18,289)  (28,340)  (850)  (22,637) 

Disposals -  -  -  (1,998)  -  (1,998) 

At 31 December 2017 1,491,007  2,115,578  10,011,617  557,548  -  14,175,750 

 

           

Depreciation:            

At 1 January 2017 51,000  162,748  6,440,072  590,036  -  7,243,856 

Subsidiary derecognition -  (68,108)  (5,581,454)  (168,751)  -  (5,818,313) 

Charge for the year 17,000  69,898  712,329  53,932  -  853,159 

Reclassification -  (113)  (15,782)  (6,747)  -  (22,642) 

Disposals -  -  -  (1,997)  -  (1,997) 

At 31 December 2017 68,000  164,425  1,555,165  466,473  -  2,254,063 

Net book value:             

At 31 December 2017 1,423,007  1,951,153  8,456,452  91,075  -  11,921,687 
 

Leasehold rights of KD 340,000 is related to 20 years leasehold right contract signed with the Public Authority for Industry. The leasehold right is registered 

under the name of a related party (“the nominee”). The nominee has confirmed in writing that Abyar Gulf Company for General Trading and Contract – W.L.L. 

(subsidiary) is the beneficial owner of the leasehold right. The leasehold right is amortised over the contract period. Remaining amounts represent leasehold land 

rented from the government of Kuwait for a period of 5 years renewable for similar periods.  

 

Property, plant and equipment amounting to KD 9,780,616 (31 December 2016: KD 12,001,888) have been mortgaged against fixed assets payable (Note 23). 
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11.  Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 

 

 

Leasehold 

land 

 

Office 

building 

 Machinery 

 and  

equipment 

 Furniture 

 and 

fixtures 

 Capital 

 work in 

progress 

 

Total 

 

KD  KD  KD  KD  KD  KD 

Cost:    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 At 1 January 2016 1,156,479  284,418  13,962,939  613,234  34,261  16,051,331 

Arising on acquisition of subsidiary -  355,965  3,423,888  76,352  -  3,856,205 

Additions 1,151,007  1,990,541  9,508,731  124,019  1,790,924  14,565,222 

Transfers -  -  35,283  -  (35,283)  - 

Disposals -  -  (6,374)  (2,870)  -  (9,244) 

At 31 December 2016 2,307,486  2,630,924  26,924,467  810,735  1,789,902  34,463,514 

            

Depreciation: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 At 1 January 2016 34,000  122,627  4,104,523  395,980  -  4,657,130 

Arising on acquisition of subsidiary -  2,626  801,160  48,810  -  852,596 

Charge for the year 17,000  37,495  1,535,343  146,326  -  1,736,164 

Disposals -  -  (954)  (1,080)  -  (2,034) 

At 31 December 2016 51,000  162,748  6,440,072  590,036  -  7,243,856 

Net book value:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 At 31 December 2016 2,256,486  2,468,176  20,484,395  220,699  1,789,902  27,219,658 
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12. Intangible assets 

 

Goodwill 

 Other intangible 

assets 

  

Total 

 KD  KD  KD 

Cost:      

At 1 January 2017 2,492,905  1,167,502  3,660,407 

Additions* -  574,479  574,479 

Disposal of subsidiary (Note 7 c) (2,492,905)  (1,167,502)  (3,660,407) 

At 31 December 2017 -  574,479  574,479 

      

Amortisation:      

At 1 January 2017  -  1,167,502  1,167,502 

Charge for the year -  122,539  122,539 

Disposal of subsidiary (Note 7 c) -  (1,167,502)  (1,167,502) 

At 31 December 2017 -  122,539  122,539 

      

Net book value:      

At 31 December 2017 -  451,940  451,940 

      

Cost:      

At 1 January 2016 2,160,176  1,167,502  3,327,678 

Additions 332,729  -  332,729 

At 31 December 2016 2,492,905  1,167,502  3,660,407 

      

Amortisation:      

At 1 January 2016 -  1,167,502  1,167,502 

At 31 December 2016 -  1,167,502  1,167,502 

      

Net book value:      

At 31 December 2016 2,492,905  -  2,492,905 

 

*Additions represent cost incurred in producing TV serials during the year 2017. 

 

13. Investment properties 

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

    

As at 1 January 2,717,526  3,384,974 

Disposals (32,795)  (181,233) 

Change in fair value  117,967  (486,215) 

At 31 December 2,802,698  2,717,526 

 

The investment properties amounting to KD 296,147 are in the name of key management personnel 

(Note 25).  

 

Fair value hierarchy disclosures for investment properties are given in Note 29.3. 
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14. Investment in associates  
 

The details of the Group’s investment in associates are as follows: 
 

Name of the company 

 Country of 

incorporation 

 

Equity interest 

 

Activities 

    2017  2016   

Kuwait Building Materials 

Manufacturing Company - KPSC 

(“KBMMC”)  Kuwait  46.99%  47.4% 

 

Building materials 
         

First Equilease for Equipment and 

Transportation - K.S.C. (Closed) 

(“FTC”) (a)  Kuwait  16%  16.0% 

 

Transportation 

services  
         

Kingdom Electricity Company – 

J.S.C.C (“KEC”)  Jordan  30%  30.0% 

 Energy and 

industrial projects 
         

Nawand Communications Holding 

Company - BSC (Closed)
 

(“Nawand”) (a)  

Kingdom of 

Bahrain  17.3%  17.3% 

 

Telecom services 
         

Al Takhsis Al Mutamada General 

Trading and Contracting Company  

(formerly SNC-Lavalin Kuwait for 

General Trading and Contracting 

Company – W.L.L.) (c)  Kuwait  -  30.0% 

 

General trading 

and contracting 
         

Kuwait Pillars for Financial 

Investment Company – 

K.S.C.C.(“KPFI”) [Formerly 

Strategia Investment Company - 

KPSC (“Strategia”)]  Kuwait  42.98%  43.0% 

 

Investments 

         

National Industries Company – 

KPSC and subsidiaries (“NIC”) (a) 

 

Kuwait  14.13%  14.2% 

 Manufacturing 

and marketing 

building materials 
         

Canarde Group Consortium S.A.E. 

 

Egypt  30%  30.0% 

 Generating and 

maintaining 

electricity and 

electricity plant 

         

Eastern United Petroleum Services 

Company – KSC (Closed) 

(“EUPS”)(b) 

 

Kuwait  42.78%  - 

 Oil and gas 

activities  

 

a) The investment in FTC, Nawand and NIC have been classified as associates because the Parent 

Company exercises significant influence over the investee companies through representations 

on their Board of Directors and participation in their decision making process in relation to 

their financial and operating policies. 
 

b) During the year and subsequent to GOFSCO disposal, the Group reclassified 42.78% stake 

(Directly held) in Eastern United Petroleum Company – K.S.C. (Closed) to investment in 

associate along with goodwill that arose from step acquisition during 2016 amounting to KD 

489,694 which was recognized in equity. 
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14.     Investment in associates (Continued) 

 
c) Al Takhsis Al Mutamada General Trading and Contracting Company  (formerly SNC-Lavalin 

Kuwait for General Trading and Contracting Company – W.L.L.) have been reclassified into 

investment subsidiaries upon gaining control. 

 

The movement in investment in associates is as follows: 

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

    

Balance at beginning of the year 45,107,752  46,742,183 

Additions 10,515  10,809 

Reclassified from/(to) investment in subsidiary 1,746,914  (1,619,332) 

Disposal (538,013)  (92,893) 

Dividends  (595,922)  (1,214,387) 

Share of results 1,885,391  1,580,057 

Cumulative changes in fair values 11,359  96,607 

Foreign currency translation adjustment (132,413)  48,451 

Other reserves (269,728)  (443,743) 

Balance at end of the year 47,225,855  45,107,752 

 

Investment in associates include quoted associates with a carrying value of KD 16,792,487 (2016: 

KD 20,013,780) having a market value of KD 10,194,317(2016: KD 13,032,971). 

 

Management has performed a review of investments in associates to assess whether impairment has 

occurred and concluded that there are no indications of impairment (2016: KD nil).
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14. Investment in associates (Continued) 
 

Summarised financial statements of Group’s material associates are set out below:  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Total  Non-material   EUPS  NIC  KPFI  KEC  FTC  KBMMC  31 December 2017 

KD  KD  KD  KD  KD  KD  KD  KD   

                Assets  

  80,416  1,680,498  45,460,612  4,108,849  150,293,260  10,148,835  4,286,725  Current 

  -  5,885,497  68,260,650  29,636,273  194,899,038  1,363,869  2,349,425  Non-current 

                Liabilities 

  -  (1,794,180)  (14,488,615)  (669,266)  (172,657,974)  (224,854)  (399,365)  Current 

  -  (2,398,575)  (8,944,191)  -  (145,715,555)  -  (549,972)  Non-current 

  80,416  3,373,240  90,288,456  33,075,856  26,818,769  11,287,850  5,686,813   

  -  -  (5,164,033)  -  (7,385,610)  (238,854)  -  Non-controlling interests 

  80,416  3,373,240  85,124,423  33,075,856  19,433,159  11,048,996  5,686,813   

    42.78%  14.13%  42.98%  30%  16%  46.99%  Group’s holding 

37,981,802  24,126  1,443,095  12,028,554  14,215,604  5,829,948  1,767,839  2,672,636  Group’s share of  net assets 

9,244,053  -  489,694  4,763,933  131,264  3,419,295  -  439,867  Goodwill 

47,225,855  24,126  1,932,789  16,792,487  14,346,868  9,249,243  1,767,839  3,112,503  Carrying amount 

                 

  -  2,809,013  45,141,856  2,043,607  187,376,317  758,960  2,412,947  Revenues 

  -  (2,497,137)  (42,042,750)  (1,010,740)  (184,559,432)  (1,475,227)  (2,210,173)  Expenses and other charges 

  - 

 

311,876  3,099,106  1,032,867  2,816,885  (716,267)  202,774 

 Net profit/(loss) attributable to 

Shareholders  

  -  311,876  3,118,107  1,028,018  2,816,885  (771,256)  202,774  Total comprehensive (loss)/income 

1,764,337  (112,858) 

 

131,035  486,717  442,321  845,065  (123,401)  95,458 

 Group’s share of total 

comprehensive income/(loss)  

595,922  -  -  495,370  -  -  -   100,552  Dividend received 
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14. Investment in associates (Continued) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Total  

Non-

material  NIC  KPFI  KEC  FTC  KBMMC 

 

31 December 2016 

KD  KD  KD  KD  KD  KD  KD   

              Assets  

  288,849  42,843,677  6,803,005  109,780,553  10,048,909  4,167,104  Current 

  -  70,069,125  26,433,364  180,346,864  2,457,569  2,516,409  Non-current 

              Liabilities 

  (750)  (16,411,256)  (609,502)  (122,687,490)  (284,773)  (456,439)  Current 

  -  (5,938,122)  -  (141,347,639)  (43,874)  (530,803)  Non-current 

  288,099  90,563,424  32,626,867  26,092,288  12,177,831  5,696,271   

  -  (5,466,435)  -  (7,862,652)  (357,575)  -  Non-controlling interests 

  288,099  85,096,989  32,626,867  18,229,636  11,820,256  5,696,271  Net assets  

    14.2%  43.0%  30%  16%  47.4%  Group’s holding 

36,264,240  86,430  12,070,143  14,048,736  5,468,891  1,891,241  2,698,799  Group’s share of net assets 

8,843,512  -  4,780,992  130,733  3,467,941  -  463,846  Goodwill 

45,107,752  86,430  16,851,135  14,179,469  8,936,832  1,891,241  3,162,645  Carrying amount 

               

  -  42,894,486  1,994,098  237,036,427  2,579,119  2,727,872  Revenues 

  (1,111)  (42,243,713)  (1,195,260)  (232,963,279)  (3,443,113)  (2,600,367)  Expenses and other charges 

  (1,111)  650,773  798,838  4,073,148  (863,994)  127,505  Net profit/(loss) attributable to Shareholders  

  (1,111)  2,060,661  583,011  4,073,148  (833,436)  127,505  Total comprehensive income/(loss) 

1,725,115  32,789  292,284  251,038  1,221,944  (133,350)  60,410 

 Group’s share of total comprehensive 

income/(loss)  

1,214,387  -  990,742  -  -  80,000  143,645  Dividend received 
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15. Available for sale investments 

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

    

Quoted equity securities 16,356,863  21,072,781 

Unquoted equity securities 13,553,801  8,688,031 

Mutual funds 10,236,267  10,130,384 

 40,146,931  39,891,196 

 

Mutual funds are carried at net asset values provided by the fund managers. 

 

Unquoted equity securities of KD 377,000 (2016: KD 3,553,290) are carried at cost, less 

impairment, if any, due to the unpredictable nature of their future cash flows and lack of other 

suitable methods for arriving at a reliable fair value of these investments. There is no active market 

for these financial assets and the Group intends to hold them for the long term. 

 

Management has performed a review of available for sale investments to assess whether 

impairment has occurred and recorded impairment loss on quoted equity securities of KD Nil, 

unquoted equity securities KD Nil (2016: quoted equity shares KD 817,093, unquoted equity 

shares KD 631,300), in the consolidated statement of income. 

 

Certain equity securities classified as available for sale investments are registered in the name of a 

major shareholder (Note 25). 

 

At 31 December 2017, the Group also held equity securities of related parties with a carrying value 

of KD 8,512,602 (2016: KD 9,538,778) (Note 25). 

 

Available for sale investments amounting to KD 22,731,753 (2016: KD 22,002,386) are secured 

against certain term loans (Note 22).  

 

16. Held-to-maturity investment 

 

Held to maturity investment represents the amount invested in SUKUK with a local Islamic 

financial institution amounting KD 1,500,000 carrying profit rate of 2 % (2016: 2%) above Central 

Bank Kuwait discount rate, which matures on 12 August 2018. 

 

17. Accounts receivable and other debit balances  

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

    

Trade receivables 6,224,857  10,832,769 

Amounts due from related parties (Note 25) 8,060,787  5,509,529 

Interest receivable  3,000,000  3,000,000 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 94,849  379,671 

Due from sale of subsidiary 5,600,000  - 

Advances to supplier 1,556,815  869,004 

Other receivables 661,941  1,646,298 

 25,199,249  22,237,271 

    

Collections after next twelve months 7,469,238  5,043,423 

Collections within next twelve months 17,730,011  17,193,848 

 25,199,249  22,237,271 



Privatization Holding Company – KPSC and subsidiaries 

State of Kuwait  
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2017 

 
 
 

45 

 

17. Accounts receivable and other debit balances (Continued) 

 

Due from sale of subsidiary represents, the balance from disposal of GOFSCO (90.09%) for total 

consideration of KD 18,018,302 (Under note 7c). Under terms of agreement, KD 8,918,302 was 

received during 2017, KD 3,500,000 was paid through settlement of related party loan and KD 

5,600,000 to be settled in subsequent to year end. 

 

Interest receivable of KD 3,000,000 (2016: KD 3,000,000) is past due and the Parent Company 

intends to reschedule the repayment date.  

 

As at 31 December the aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows:  
 

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

    

Neither past due nor impaired 3,045,132  5,723,623 

- 3 – 6 months 842,477  2,486,227 

- over 6 months 2,337,248  2,622,919 

Total trade receivables 6,224,857  10,832,769 

 

18. Investments at fair value through profit or loss 

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

Held for trading    

Quoted equity securities 3,486,511  3,197,488 

Designated upon initial recognition    

Unquoted equity securities 11,064,035  10,672,634 

Mutual funds 56,036  56,046 

 14,606,582  13,926,168 

 

At 31 December 2017, the Group also held shares of related parties with a carrying value of KD 

142,943 (2016: KD 146,573) (Note 25). 
 

Investments at fair value through profit or loss amounting to KD 14,444,689 (31 December 2016: 

KD 13,741,723) are secured against certain term loans (Note 22). 
 

19. Cash and cash equivalents and fixed deposits 

 

Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise of the 

following: 

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

    

Cash and bank balances  3,715,732  4,825,138 

Cash with portfolio managers 1,724,548  250,755 

Fixed deposits with original maturity less than three months  550,423  200,103 

Restricted cash* 992,784  1,050,033 

 6,983,487  6,326,029 

Less: Bank overdraft (60,017)  (15,120) 

Cash and cash equivalents as per statement of cash flow 6,923,470  6,310,909 

    

Fixed deposits with original maturity exceeding three months  34,695  1,277,431 
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19. Cash and cash equivalents and fixed deposit (Continued) 

 

* This balance represents cash restricted against bank facilities. 

 

Fixed deposits are held with local and foreign commercial banks and yield an effective interest rate 

ranging from 0.6 to 13.5% (2016: 0.6% to 7%) per annum. 
 

Bank overdraft includes a bank overdraft facility which bears an effective interest rate of 2.5% 

(2016: 2.5%) per annum above Central Bank of Kuwait (“CBK”) discount rate. 

 

20. Share capital and share premium 

 

The authourized, issued and fully paid capital is KD 61,000,000 divided into 610,000,000 shares as 

at 31 December 2017, 2016 each of a nominal value of 100 fils. All shares are paid in cash. 

 

Share premium is not available for distribution. 

 

21. Reserves 

 

Statuary reserve 

The Companies Law and the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of 

Association require that 10% of the profit for the year before KFAS, NLST, Zakat and Board of 

Directors’ remuneration to be transferred to the statutory reserve. The Shareholders of Parent 

Company may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers when the reserve totals 50% of the paid 

up share capital.  

 

Distribution of statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a 

dividend of 5% of paid up share capital to be made in years when retained earnings are not 

sufficient for the payment of a dividend of that amount. 

 

General reserve 

The Parent Company’s Articles of Association and the Companies Law require that 10% of the 

profit for the year before KFAS, NLST, Zakat and Board of Directors’ remuneration to be 

transferred to the general reserve. There are no restrictions on distribution of general reserve. Such 

transfer may be discontinued by a resolution of the Shareholders’ General Assembly meeting upon 

recommendation by Board of Directors   

 

22. Term loans 

  2017  2016 

  KD   KD  

     

Term loan (a)  10,343,737  10,909,394 

Term loan (b)  9,000,000  9,000,000 

Term loan (c)  2,325,648  6,993,723 

Term loan (d)  11,500,000  12,000,000 

Term loan (e)  1,455,722  1,455,722 

Term loan (f)  4,266,750  4,320,700 

  38,891,857  44,679,539 

     

Installments due after next twelve months  15,889,015  24,499,222 

Installments due within next twelve months  23,002,842  20,142,810 

  38,891,857  44,642,032 
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22. Term Loans (Continued) 

 

Term loan (a) represents short-term credit facilities of KD 2,633,017 (2016: KD 1,179,170) and 

long term credit facilities of KD 7,710,720 (2016: KD 9,730,224) obtained from a local bank which 

are subject to interest rates ranging between 2.5% to 4% (2016: 2.5% to 4%) per annum over the 

CBK discount rate or 3 months LIBOR. The term loan is payable on different installments starting 

from 2017 till 2020. These term loans are secured against certain securities classified as available 

for sale (Note 15) and investments at fair value through profit or loss (Note 18).  

 

Term loan (b) represents short-term credit facility from a local financial institution which carries 

interest at the rate of 5% per annum. The term loan is secured against certain portfolios maintained 

by a third party classified as available for sale (Note 15) and investments at fair value through 

profit or loss (Note 18).  

 

Term loan (c) represents short-term credit facilities KD 2,325,648 (2016: KD 5,545,425) and long 

term credit facilities of KD Nil (2016: KD 1,448,298) from local and foreign banks and are subject 

to interest rates ranging from 5% to 6%per annum. 

 

Term loan (d) represents long-term credit facilities obtained from a local bank which are subject to 

interest rates of 2.5% (2016: 2.5%) per annum above the CBK discount rate. The term loan is 

payable in equal semi annual installments of KD 1,500,000 ending 31 December 2020. This term 

loan is secured against certain securities classified as available for sale (Note 15). 

 

Term loan (e) represents short term credit facility of JOD 3.4 million (equivalent to KD 1.5 

million).  

 

Term loan (f) represents long term credit facility of JOD 10 million (equivalent to KD 4.2 million) 

from a foreign bank which will be paid in eight equal quarterly installments starting 31 March 2018 

and carries interest rate of 8.5%. 

 

23. Accounts payable and other credit balances  

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

    

Accounts payable 503,572  2,322,765 

Amounts due to related parties (Note 25) 2,098,633  2,726,922 

Fixed assets Payable* 7,053,191  8,162,712 

Accrued expenses and other liabilities  3,456,855  8,523,241 

 13,112,251  21,735,640 

 

Payments due after next twelve months  6,045,592  7,142,373 

Payments due within next twelve months  7,066,659  14,593,267 

  13,112,251  21,735,640 

 

*Property, plant and equipment amounting to JOD 22.9 million (equivalent to KD 9.8 million) are 

secured against fixed assets payable (Note 11). This balance is payable in 8 installments on annual 

basis. 
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24. Annual General Assembly 

 

The Board of Directors’ meeting of the Parent Company held on 28 March 2018 recommended 

cash dividends of 5 fils per share for the year ended 31 December 2017. This recommendation is 

subject to the approval of the Shareholders’ Annual General Assembly. The proposed dividend, if 

approved, shall be distributed to the shareholders registered in the Parent Company’s records as of 

the date of the Shareholders’ Annual General Assembly. 

 

The Annual General Assembly of the Parent Company for the year ended 31 December 2016 held 

on 26 July 2017 approved the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 

2016 without any dividends. 

 

25. Related party transactions and balances 

 

Related parties represent major Shareholders, associates, directors and key management personnel 

of the Group, and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. 

Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s management. 

 

Transactions and balances with related parties included in the consolidated financial statements are 

as follows:  

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

Transactions included in consolidated statement of income:    

Dividend Income 1,000  33,705 

Interest Expense (35,915)  - 

Portfolio management fees (111)  (161) 

    

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

Consolidated statement of financial position    

Cash with portfolio manager  2,260  1,738 

Available for sale investments (Note 15) 8,512,602  9,538,778 

Investments at fair value through profit or loss (Note 18) 142,943  146,573 

Due from related parties (Note 17) 8,060,787  5,509,529 

Due to related parties (Note 23) 2,098,633  (2,726,922) 

 

The amounts due from/to related parties are interest free and are receivable/payable on demand. 

 

Compensation of key management personnel 

The remuneration of key management personnel of the Group during the year was as follows: 

 

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

Compensation of key management personnel:    

Short-term benefits 557,021  890,923 

End of service benefits 156,923  191,868 

 713,944  1,082,791 
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25.     Related party transactions and balances (Continued) 

 

The following financial assets are managed by related parties: 

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

Available for sale investments     

Quoted equity securities 138,961  111,444 

Unquoted equity securities 316,456  301,100 

Mutual funds 86,895  88,131 

    

Investments at fair value through profit or loss     

Quoted equity securities 18,950  37,872 

 

 

The equity securities classified as available for sale investments with a carrying value of KD 

2,896,101 (quoted KD 221,771, unquoted KD 2,674,330, (31 December 2016: KD 2,914,820 

quoted KD 240,490, unquoted KD 2,674,330) are registered in the name of major shareholder of 

the Parent Company who has confirmed in writing that they hold these equity securities on behalf 

of the Parent Company (Note 15). 

 

The real estate properties in Egypt classified as investment properties with a carrying value of KD 

296,147 (31 December 2016: KD 333,267) are registered in the name of a key management 

personnel who has confirmed in writing that he holds the investment properties on behalf of the 

Parent Company (Note 13). 

 

26. Capital commitments and contingencies  

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

Commitments    

Purchase of available for sale investments 3,156,869  2,808,269 

Other commitments 4,232,701  1,616,681 

 

Contingencies 

At the reporting date, the Group has provided performance bank guarantees to a customer and 

suppliers amounting to KD 4,518,766 (31 December 2016: KD 5,262,141) from which it is 

anticipated that no material liabilities will arise. 

 

The Parent Company and Al Khair National for Stocks and Real Estate Company have provided a 

guarantee to National Bank of Kuwait against a loan of KD 36,880,529 (2016: KD 57,387,502) 

assigned to a third party during 2012. This loan was rescheduled during 2013 and the principal 

(excluding interest) is repayable in eleven annual installments commencing 15 June 2016.  
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27. Segmental information 

 

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on nature of business and has two reportable operating segments as 

follows: 

 

i) Investment segment represents trading in equities including certain investment in associates and other strategic investments; and 

ii) Other segment represents rendering of non-investment services and general trading and contracting. 

 

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and 

performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on return on investments.  

 
 Investment  Other  Total 

 2017  2016  2017  2016  2017  2016 

 KD  KD  KD  KD  KD  KD 

            

Revenues 4,438,904  465,452  7,672,360  5,780,312  12,111,264  6,245,764 

Segment profit/(loss) 981,623  (4,033,579)  (767,933)  (262,023)  213,690  (4,295,602) 

            

            

Other disclosures:            

Depreciation (Note 11) (20,659)  (24,232)  (832,500)  (1,711,932)  (853,159)  (1,736,164) 

Impairments losses -  (1,448,393)  -  -  -  (1,448,393) 

Share of results of associates (Note 14) 1,885,391  1,580,057  -  -  1,885,391  1,580,057 

            

Assets 121,237,999  109,209,561  30,993,115  55,497,038  152,231,114  164,706,599 

            

Liabilities 35,476,054  36,460,927  17,564,170  31,187,032  53,040,224  67,647,959 

            

Other disclosures:            

Investment in associates (Note 14) 47,225,855  45,107,752  -  -  47,225,855  45,107,752 

Additions to property, plant and equipment (Note 11) 9,516  41,843  201,106  14,523,379  210,622  14,565,222 

 

 



Privatization Holding Company – KPSC and subsidiaries 

State of Kuwait  
 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

For the year ended 31 December 2017 

 
 
 

51 

 

27. Segmental information (Continued) 

 

Geographic information 

The Group operates in two geographic regions; Kuwait and Non-Kuwait. The following table 

shows the distribution of the Group’s segment revenue and non-current assets by region: 

 

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

Revenues    

Kuwait 7,711,703  4,736,414 

Non-Kuwait 4,399,561  1,509,350 

 12,111,264  6,245,764 

 

The revenue information above is based on the location of the assets generating the income. 

 

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

Non-current assets     

Kuwait 60,566,611  79,360,078 

Non-Kuwait 50,953,894  44,616,852 

 111,520,505  123,976,930 

 

28. Risk management objectives and policies 

 

The Group’s activities expose it to variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, 

equity price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

 

The Parent Company’s Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the overall risk 

management and for approving risk strategies and principles. The Group’s risk management 

focuses on actively securing the Group’s short to medium term cash flows by minimizing the 

potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. Long term financial investments 

are managed to generate lasting returns. 

 

The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial 

instruments, for speculative purposes. The most significant financial risks to which the Group is 

exposed are described below. 

 

28.1 Market risk 

 

a) Foreign currency risk 

 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 

will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 

 

The Group mainly operates in Kuwait and the Middle East and is exposed to foreign currency risk 

arising from various foreign currency exposures, primarily with respect to US Dollar, Euro, 

Jordanian Dinar and Egyptian Pound. The Group’s financial position can be significantly affected 

by the movement in these currencies. To mitigate the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, 

non-Kuwaiti Dinar cash flows are monitored. 
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28 Risk management objectives and policies (Continued) 

 

28.1 Market risk (continued) 

 

a)  Foreign currency risk (continued) 
 

The Group had the following net significant exposures denominated in foreign currencies, 

translated into Kuwaiti Dinar at the closing rate: 

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

    

US Dollar 1,434,017  95,510 

Euro 3,056,359  2,734,862 

Jordanian Dinar 3,473,570  2,441,306 

Egyptian Pound 510,075  399,024 

Others 44,187  19,304 

   

The foreign currency sensitivity is determined based on 5% (2016: 5%), increase or decrease in 

exchange rates. There has been no change during the year in the methods and assumptions used in 

the preparation of the sensitivity analysis. 

 

If the Kuwaiti Dinar had strengthened/(weakened) against the foreign currencies assuming the 

above sensitivity, then this would have the following impact on the profit for the year and equity: 

 

 31 December 2017  31 December 2016 

 

Effect on 

profit 

 Effect on other 

comprehensive 

income 

 

Effect on 

profit 

 Effect on other 

comprehensive 

income 

 KD  KD  KD  KD 
        

US Dollar ±472,119  ±400,418  ±429,915  ±434,690 

Euro ±130  ±152,688  ±1,040  ±135,703 

Jordanian Dinar ±409  ±173,270  ±1,026  ±121,040 

Egyptian Pound ±25,504  -  ±19,951  - 

Others ±948  ±1,261  ±754  ±212 

 

Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume and nature of 

the transactions. Nonetheless, the analysis above is considered to be representative of the Group’s 

exposure to the foreign currency risk. 
 

b) Equity price risk 
 

Equity price risk is the risk that fair values of equity securities decrease as a result of changes in the 

level of equity indices and the value of the individual stocks.  

 

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly to its quoted investments. To manage its equity 

price risk the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance 

with the limits set by the Group.  
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28 Risk management objectives and policies (Continued) 

 

28.1   Market risk (continued) 

 

b)      Equity price risk (continued) 
 

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to price risks at the 

reporting date.  

 

If prices had been 5% higher/lower, the effect on the changes in profit and other comprehensive 

income for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 and equity would have been as follows: 

 

 

Profit for the year 

 Other 

comprehensive 

income 

 2017  2016  2017  2016 

 KD   KD   KD   KD  

        

Available for sale investments -  -  ±646,408  ±850,213 

Investments at fair value through profit or loss ±130,444  ±121,661  -  - 

 

c)  Interest rate risk 

 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  

 

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the 

Group’s term loans and bank overdrafts with floating interest rates as well as fixed deposits. The 

effect on Group’s profit due to (increase)/decrease in the interest rate by 25 basis points, with all 

variables held constant is as follows 

 

The calculations are based on the group’s financial instruments held at each financial position date. 

All other variables are held constant. There is no impact on the Group’s equity: 

 

    2017  2016 

    KD   KD 

       

Effect on profit    ±35,566  ±127,981 

 

There has been no change during the year in the methods and assumption used in preparing the 

sensitivity analysis 

 

28.2  Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and 

cause the other party to incur a financial loss. The Group’s credit policy and exposure to credit risk 

is monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group seeks to avoid undue concentrations of risks with 

individuals or Groups of customers in specific locations or business through diversification of its 

activities. It also obtains security when appropriate.  
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28.     Risk management objectives and policies (Continued) 

 

28.2   Credit risk (continued) 

 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of financial assets 

recognised at the financial position date, as summarized below:  

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  
    

Cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash) 6,952,647  6,310,034 

Fixed deposits 34,695  1,277,431 

Accounts receivable (excluding prepayments and advances) 23,547,585  20,988,596 

Held-to-maturity investments 1,502,156  1,504,470 

 32,037,083  30,080,531 

 

Bank balances are maintained with high credit quality financial institutions. Accounts receivable 

and other debit balances are neither past due nor impaired. 

 

28.3 Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its liabilities when they fall due. To 

limit this risk, management has arranged diversified funding sources, manages assets with liquidity 

in mind, and monitors liquidity on a daily basis.  
 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities. The 

maturities of assets and liabilities have been determined on the basis of the remaining period from 

the financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The maturity profile for available for 

sale investments is determined based on management's estimate of liquidation of those investments. 

 

The contractual maturity profile of the financial liabilities based on undiscounted cash flow is as 

follows: 

 Less than  3 to 12  Over 1   

 3 months  months  year  Total 

 KD  KD  KD  KD 

31 December 2017        

Term loans 2,003,966  20,421,317  19,424,452  41,849,735 

Accounts payable and accruals 5,814,141  1,205,684  6,182,131  13,201,956 

Bank overdraft 60,176  -  -  60,176 

 7,878,283  21,627,001  25,606,583  55,111,867 
 

       

Commitments -  7,389,569  -  7,389,569 

Contingency – guarantee -  4,518,766  36,880,529  41,399,295 

 7,878,283  33,535,336  62,487,112  103,900,731 

31 December 2016        

Term loans  2,660,130  19,287,076  26,973,457  48,920,663 

Accounts payable and accruals 6,113,572  7,345,699  7,520,435  20,979,706 

Bank overdraft 15,120  -  -  15,120 

 8,788,822  26,632,775  34,493,892  69,915,489 
        

Commitments -  4,424,950  -  4,424,950 

Contingency – guarantee -  8,204,791  57,387,502  65,592,293 

 8,788,822  39,262,516  91,881,394  139,932,732 
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29. Fair value measurement  

 

29.1  Fair value hierarchy 

 

Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 

an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of 

financial position are Grouped into three Levels of a fair value hierarchy.  

 

The three Levels are defined based on the observability of significant inputs to the measurement, as 

follows: 

 Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 

markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from 

prices); and 

 Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs 

for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 

29.2  Fair value measurement of financial instruments 

 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as stated in the consolidated 

statement of financial position are as follows: 

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

Financial assets:    
    

Available for sale investments:    

Available for sale investments at cost 377,000  3,553,290 

Available for sale investments at fair value  39,769,931  36,337,906 

    

Held-to-maturity investment at amortised cost:    

Held-to-maturity investment  1,502,156  1,504,470 

    

Loans and receivables at amortised cost:    

Accounts receivable and other debit balances 23,547,585  20,988,596 

Fixed deposits 34,695  1,277,431 

Cash and cash equivalents 6,983,487  6,326,029 

    

Investments at fair value through profit or loss at fair value:    

Investments at fair value through profit or loss  14,606,582  13,926,168 

 86,821,436  83,913,890 
    

Financial liabilities:    
    

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:    

Term loans 38,891,857  44,642,032 

Accounts payable and other credit balances 13,042,661  20,547,635 

Bank overdraft 60,017  15,120 

 51,994,535  65,204,787 
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29 Fair value measurement (Continued) 

 

29.2  Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued) 

 

Management considers that the carrying amounts of loans and receivable and all financial 

liabilities, which are stated at amortised cost, approximate their fair values.  

 

The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest 

level of significant input to the fair value measurement. 

 

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the consolidated 

statement of financial position are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows: 

 

31 December 2017 
  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

  KD  KD  KD  KD 

Available for sale investments         

Quoted securities (a) 13,937,995  -  2,418,868  16,356,863 

Managed funds (b) -  10,236,268  -  10,236,268 

Unquoted securities (c) -  3,838,575  9,338,225  13,176,800 

         

Investments at fair value 

through profit or loss  

 

       
Quoted securities (a) 3,486,511  -  -  3,486,511 

Managed funds (b) -  56,036  -  56,036 
Unquoted securities (c) -  -  11,064,035  11,064,035 

  17,424,506  14,130,879  22,821,128  54,376,513 

 

31 December 2016  

  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

  KD  KD  KD  KD 

Available for sale investments         

Quoted securities (a) 9,811,451  -  11,261,330  21,072,781 

Managed funds (b) -  10,130,384  -  10,130,384 

Unquoted securities (c) -  4,803,544  331,197  5,134,741 

Investments at fair value 

through profit or loss  

        

Quoted securities (a) 2,244,457  -  953,031  3,197,488 

Managed funds (b) -  56,046  -  56,046 

Unquoted securities (c) -  -  10,672,634  10,672,634 

  12,055,908  14,989,974  23,218,192  50,264,074 

 

Measurement at fair value 

 

a) Quoted securities 

Quoted shares represent all listed equity securities which are publicly traded in stock exchanges. 

Where quoted prices in an active market are available, the fair value of such investments have been 

determined by reference to their quoted bid prices at the reporting date (level 1) and if the market 

for an investment is not active, the Group has established fair value by using valuation techniques 

(Level 3). 
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29 Fair value measurement (Continued) 

 

29.2  Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued) 

 

Measurement at fair value (continued) 

 

b) Managed funds 

The underlying investments in these private equity funds mainly represent foreign quoted and 

unquoted securities. Information for these investments is limited to periodic financial reports 

provided by the investment managers. These investments are carried at net asset values reported by 

the investment managers. Due to the nature of these investments, the net asset values reported by 

the investment managers represent the best estimate of fair values available for these investments.  

 

c) Unquoted securities 

Unlisted securities are measured at fair value estimated using various models like discounted cash 

flow model, which includes some assumptions that are not supportable by observable market prices 

or rates. 

 

d) Financial liabilities  

The Group does not have any financial liabilities at fair value. 

 

Level 3 fair value measurements 
The Group's financial assets classified in Level 3 use valuation techniques based on significant 

inputs that are not based on observable market data. The financial instruments within this level can 

be reconciled from beginning to ending balances as follows: 

 

 2017  2016 

 KD   KD  

    

Opening balance 23,218,192  16,217,594 

Transfer (to)/from level 1 (5,153,197)  12,214,361 

Additions 3,640,359  612,500 

Transfer to level 2 -  (5,544,960) 

(Loss)/gain recognised in:    

- Profit or loss  850,145  (281,303) 

Other comprehensive income 265,629  - 

Closing balance 22,821,128  23,218,192 

 

The Group’s investment team performs valuations of financial items for financial reporting 

purposes, including Level 3 fair values, in consultation with third party valuation specialists for 

complex valuations, where required. Valuation techniques are selected based on the characteristics 

of each instrument, with the overall objective of maximising the use of market-based information. 

 

The valuation techniques used for instruments categorised in Levels 2 and 3 are described below: 

 

Available for sale investments and investments at fair value through profit or loss: 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (e.g. unquoted 

securities) is determined by using valuation techniques. Fair value for the underlying unquoted 

securities are approximately the summation of the estimated value of underlying investments as if 

realised on the statement of financial position date. 
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29 Fair value measurement (Continued) 

 

29.2  Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued) 

 

Available for sale investments and investments at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 

The investment managers in determining the fair value of these investments use a variety of 

methods and make assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each financial 

position date. Investment managers use techniques such as discounted cash flow analysis, recent 

transactions prices and market multiples to determine fair value. 

 

Changing inputs to the level 3 valuations to reasonably possible alternative assumptions would not 

change significantly amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of income, total assets, total 

liabilities or total equity. 

 

29.3 Non-financial instruments  

 

Investment properties were fair valued at 31 December 2017 and are classified under level 3 fair 

value hierarchy and reconciliation is provided in (Note 13). 

 

Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation of non-financial assets:  

Fair value of investment properties were determined using Mark to Market method, conducted by 

independent valuators considering transaction prices of the property and similar properties. The 

significant unobservable valuation input used for the purpose of valuation is the market price per 

square foot / meter and varies from property to property. A reasonable change in this input would 

result in an equivalent amount of change in fair value. 

 

30. Capital management objectives 

 

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern and to provide adequate return to its Shareholders through the optimization of the capital 

structure. 

 

The capital of the Group comprise of total equity. The Group manages the capital structure and 

makes adjustments in the light of changes in economic conditions and risk characteristics of the 

underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the 

amount of dividends paid to Shareholders, return capital to Shareholders, issue new shares or sell 

assets to reduce debt.  

 

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. 
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30. Capital management objectives (Continued) 

 

This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by the total equity as follows: 

 

  2017  2016 

  KD   KD  

     

Interest bearing loans and borrowings  38,891,857  44,642,032 

Bank overdraft  60,017  15,120 

Fixed assets payable  7,053,191  8,162,712 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents and fixed deposits  (7,018,182)  (7,603,460) 

Net debt  38,986,883  45,216,404 

Equity attributable to Shareholders of the Parent 

Company 

 

97,340,927  93,437,476 

Total capital and net debt  136,327,810  138,653,880 

Gearing ratio  29%  33% 

 

31. Comparative amounts 

 

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the presentation in the current 

year. Such reclassification does not affect previously reported net assets, net equity or net results 

for the year. 
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